
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Sharon Hughes 
 (Tel: 01443 864281   Email: hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 13th October 2021 

 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
A meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee will be held via Microsoft Teams on Thursday, 21st 
October, 2021 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters contained in the following agenda.  Councillors and the 
public wishing to speak on any item can do so by making a request to the Chair.  You are also welcome to 
use Welsh at the meeting, both these requests require a minimum notice period of 3 working days.  
 

This meeting will be recorded and made available to view via the Council’s website, except for 
discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those individuals 

speaking will be publicly available to all via the recording on the Council website at 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 

 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
Pages 

  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 
2  Declarations of Interest.   

Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 

Public Document Pack

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

To approve and sign the following minutes: - 
 
3  Joint Scrutiny Committee held on 22nd February 2021. 

1 - 6 
 

To receive and consider the following reports: - 
 
4  Homeless Project Plan. 

7 - 32 
 

5  Local Housing Strategy 2021-26. 
33 - 66 

 
 
 
 
Circulation: 
 
Councillors M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, C. Andrews, A. Angel, J. Bevan, P.J. Bevan, C. Bezzina, C. 
Bishop, A. Collis, S. Cook, D. Cushing, C.J. Cuss, W. David, D.T. Davies, M. Davies, C. Elsbury, 
K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, Miss E. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, A. Gair, 
Ms J. Gale, R.W. Gough, D.T. Hardacre, L. Harding, D.C. Harse, D. Havard, A.G. Higgs, A. Hussey, 
M.P. James, V. James, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, Mrs B. A. Jones, S. Kent, G. Kirby, Mrs A. Leonard, 
Ms P. Leonard, C.P. Mann, B. Miles, Mrs G.D. Oliver, B. Owen, Mrs T. Parry, D.W.R. Preece, 
Mrs D. Price, J. Ridgewell, J.E. Roberts, R. Saralis, Mrs M.E. Sargent, J. Scriven, G. Simmonds, 
J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, J. Taylor, C. Thomas, L.G. Whittle, T.J. Williams, W. Williams and 
B. Zaplatynski 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 

Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including details 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
 

You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS  
ON MONDAY, 22ND FEBRUARY 2021 AT 5.00PM 

 
  

PRESENT:  
 

Councillor J. Pritchard (Chair) 
Councillor G. Kirby (Vice Chair)  

 
Councillors: 

 
C. Andrews, E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, C. Bezzina, P. Bevan, C. Cuss,  A. Collis, W. David, 

D.T. Davies, M. Davies, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, J. Fussell, A. Gair, L. 
Harding, D. Havard, A. Hussey, V. James, G. Johnston, B. Jones, C. Mann, B. Miles, A. 
Leonard, B. Owen, T. Parry, D. Preece, D. Price, J. Roberts, M. Sargent, R. Saralis, G. 

Simmonds, J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, C. Thomas, Williams, W. Williams, A. Whitcombe, L. 
Whittle, B. Zaplatynski. 

 
Also, in Attendance Non-Scrutiny Committee Members: 

Councillor N. Dix and B. Jones. 
 

Co-opted Members: 
Mr D. Davies, Mr C. Luke, Mrs P. Ireland, Mr. M. Western, 

 
Cabinet Members: 

Councillors S. Cook (Cabinet Member for Social Services), N. George (Cabinet Member for Waste & 
Public Protection), C. Gordon (Cabinet Member for Corporate Services), 

S. Morgan (Cabinet Member for Economy & Enterprise), J. Ridgewell (Cabinet Member for 
Environment & Infrastructure), E. Stenner (Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance and Customer 
Services), R. Whiting (Cabinet Member for Learning and Achievement), L. Phipps (Cabinet Member 

for Housing and Property) and Councillor P. Marsden (Leader of Council). 
 

Officers: 
C. Harrhy (Chief Executive), Mark S. Williams (Interim Corporate Director – Communities), D. Street 
(Corporate Director Social Services), R. Edmunds (Corporate Director Education and Corporate 
Services), S. Harris (Head of Financial Services and Section 151 Officer, S. Richards (Head of 
Education Planning), C. Forbes-Thompson (Scrutiny Manager), A. West (21st Century Schools). 
 
 
 

WEB-CASTING FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 
 

The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being filmed but would not be live 
streamed, however a recording would be available following the meeting via the Council’s 
website – Click here to view.  He advised that decisions would be made by Microsoft Forms.   

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Meetings,-agendas,-minutes-and-reports/Council-meetings


 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J. Bevan, L. Binding, D. Cushing, K. 
Dawson, N. Dix, C. Elsbury, C. Forehead, E. Forehead, J. Gale, D. Hardacre, D. Harse, L. 
Jeremiah, S. Kent, G. Oliver, D. Poole. and T. Middleton (Co-opted Member – Education 
Scrutiny Committee) 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 Councillors D.T. Davies, C. Elsbury and A. Hussey declared personal interests in relation to 

Agenda Item No. 5 – Caerphilly Wellbeing and Place Shaping Framework as Members of the 
South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority. 

 
 Councillor M. Adams also declared a personal interest in relation to Agenda Item No. 5 – as he 

lived in close proximity to the Pontllanfraith Comprehensive School Site, which would be one of 
the proposal coming forward for consideration. 
 
 

3.  MINUTES – 15TH DECEMBER 2020 
 

It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the 15th December 2020 be approved as a 
correct record, by way of Microsoft forms and verbal confirmation this was agreed by the 
majority present 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Joint Scrutiny Committee held on the 15th December 
2020 be approved as a correct record. 

 
 
4. MINUTES – 14TH JANUARY 2021 
 

It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the 14th January 2021 be approved as a correct 
record, by way of Microsoft forms and verbal confirmation this was agreed by the majority 
present. 

 
RESOVLED that the minutes of the Joint Scrutiny Committee held on the 14th January 
2021 as a correct record. 

    
 
5. CAERPHILLY WELLBEING AND PLACE SHAPING FRAMEWORK 
 

The Chair advised the Committee that they would be taking questions on each Wellbeing 
Objective in turn and that each objective would be introduced by the relevant Cabinet Member, 
with the Leader of Council and Chief Executive introducing the report in the first instance. 
 
Consideration was given to the report which set out proposals for a suite of projects that would 
form the basis of a county borough wide Wellbeing and Place-shaping Framework.  The Leader 
and Chief Executive outlined the Place-shaping programme and explained how it would sit on 
a strategic platform.  Members were advised that as the county borough emerges from the 
Covid pandemic it was essential to provide a route-map for our communities which offers them 
a sustainable and resilient future.  Within this context it was imperative to understand the needs 
and challenges of our constituent communities and the impact of the investments and 
interventions made to date and those required in the years ahead. 
 
The funding base for this ambitious programme was outlined and it was noted that some 
projects would be funded directly by Council capital, some a combination of Council capital and 
external funding and some being wholly funded externally. 
 

Page 2



 
 

In terms of the staffing resources required to deliver this programme the Chief Executive 
emphasised that this would require a growth bid and without this investment it would be 
impossible to deliver proposals under consideration and achieve the wider community and 
social benefits that these projects would bring to the county borough. 
 
Members were referred to section 5.6 of the report and the table contained therein which fully 
detailed the investment programme 2017-2020. 
 
The Chair thanked the Chief Executive and the Leader of Council for their introduction and 
invited each of the Cabinet Members to introduce the programmes for their respective portfolios 
starting with the Cabinet Member for Education. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education referred the Joint Scrutiny Committee to section 5.8 of the 
Officers report which detailed the proposals for Education under Wellbeing Objective 01 and 
highlighted the proposed areas of investment throughout the county borough, following which, 
Members questions were welcomed. 
 
Clarification was sought in relation to leisure provision in the Upper Rhymney area as detailed 
on page 20 of the report as to where this proposal would be situated.  Members were advised 
that several possible sites were currently being worked through and there were several 
opportunities for development. 
 
Members then queried the proposals for vulnerable learners detailed for Pontllanfraith and 
whether this would be a new build.  It was confirmed that this would more than likely be the 
adaptation of an existing structure. 
 
Members welcome recent improvements to the GVA although there was clearly more work to 
be done, this was viewed as a positive step forward. 
 
The link between the 21st Century Schools Programme and the Place-shaping Programme was 
queried and if 21st Century Schools proposals had been amended as a result.  It was confirmed 
that as time progressed there had been changes made because of shifting priorities, however 
assurances were given that consultation on 21st Century Schools had been ongoing with the 
Education Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Members welcomed proposals at Idris Davies School as the provision of a 3G pitch there had 
considered a priority for a number of years and would be welcomed for community use by local 
clubs as well as the school. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Economy and Enterprise referred Joint Scrutiny Committee to the 
proposals under Wellbeing Objective 02 and highlighted the proposed areas of investment 
throughout the county borough, following which, Members questions were welcomed. 
 
Reference was made to the proposals in relation to the exploration of a direct wire connection 
between Tredomen and the AD plant at Gelligaer, which would secure electricity at a more 
attractive rate than direct from the grid.  Local Members in the Nelson and St Cattwg wards 
expressed severe concern regarding the proposal and sited historic issues with the operator of 
the Bryn Group and referenced a current contamination incident.  The feeling was expressed 
that these issues needed to be resolved before proposing more business be directed to this 
company.  These members wished it placed on record that they would strongly oppose any 
further investment with this operator and would not wish to be associated with any such future 
proposals. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Homes and Places referred Joint Scrutiny Committee to the proposal 
under Wellbeing Objective 03 and highlighted the proposed areas of investment throughout the 
county borough, following which, Members questions were welcomed. 
 

Page 3



 
 

Members welcomed the opportunity to build new council homes but queried if there was 
anything the authority could do in relation to private rentals and bringing those empty properties 
into use, or to encourage landlords to improve.  It was noted that the Housing Team were 
currently working on projects with private landlords to see how this could be improved. 
 
Members emphasised the need for sustainability to be an integral part of all forthcoming Council 
development particular around boilers etc to ensure that we were future proofing new builds.  It 
was noted that this was already a high priority and new builds would be aligned with sustainable 
standards. 
 
Members debated affordable housing and what constituted ‘affordable’ it was felt that housing 
prices must be suitable for the area of the development so that local people would not be priced 
out. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Infrastructure referred Joint Scrutiny Committee to 
the proposal under Wellbeing Objective 04 and highlighted the proposed areas of investment 
throughout the county borough, following which, Members questions were welcomed. 
 
Reference was made to the investment proposal in relation to the A469 New Tredegar to 
Pontlottyn and the Local Member for the Twyn Carno Ward emphasised the ongoing issues 
with this particular road, given its strategic importance the Member sought assurance that this 
would be a priority going forward.  Reassurances were given that the concerns raised were 
shared by the authority and this critical road link would be priority and the project proposals 
would rely on successful engagement with local ward members on a way forward. 
 
Members queried whether there would be sufficient charging points within the county borough 
in order to support the proposed vehicle replacement programme and clarification was given on 
the proposed investments required in order to put the infrastructure in place and it was noted 
that this would include working in partnership with Western Power. 
 
Members also welcomed proposals to increase Park and Ride provision at Llanbradach. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services, Environment & Infrastructure and Economy and 
Enterprise referred Joint Scrutiny Committee to the proposal under Wellbeing Objective 04 and 
highlighted the proposed areas of investment throughout the county borough, following which, 
Members questions were welcomed. 
 
A Member referenced the proposed investment in the Caerphilly Basin and the potential 
development of a key brownfield site for mixed use facilities.  It was noted that a number of sites 
were being explored as it was very early days for these proposals, however the need for this 
type of development was recognised and would be welcomed within the Caerphilly Basin. 
 
Members expressed concern with regard to the impact of COVID on Town Centres and 
welcomed any investment opportunities that would help them to thrive again. 
 
Clarification was sought with regard to the Centre for Vulnerable Learners which included 
indoor/outdoor sporting provision and the possible impact that this might have on plans for 
Pontllanfraith Leisure Centre.  Assurances were given that these were two separate matters 
and the plans for the centre were to secure the best use of the facility and provide a net gain 
for the area. 
 
Members referenced town cleansing programmes and concerns were expressed in relation to 
the losing battle with litter that was happening throughout the borough and Members agreed 
that they would like additional investment to be made in this area. 
 

Page 4



 
 

The Community Empowerment Fund was debated, and Members were asked to encourage 
local communities to approach the fund for community improvement it was agreed that further 
information of the Community Empowerment Fund would be circulated to all Members. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services referred Joint Scrutiny Committee to the proposal 
under Wellbeing Objective 06 and highlighted the proposed areas of investment throughout the 
county borough, following which, Members questions were welcomed. 
 
Clarification was sought in relation to the funding for the various proposals and how they would 
be secured.  Officers outlined the work of the Regeneration Board and how various funding pots 
would be put together in order to secure the necessary funding. 
 
Members expressed their frustration that general points of clarification had been left to the end 
of the meeting and that the procedures for this meeting had unnecessarily lengthened the 
process. 
 
A concern was expressed that the report before Members was to high a level and the public 
would want to see local specifics and therefore felt it to be premature, assurance were also 
sought that Trade Unions had been consulted in relation to the transformation agenda and the 
impact that this would have of staff resources. 
 
Officers explained that as each and every project came forward it would be subject to a 
comprehensive business case that Members would be able to scrutinise and there would be full 
consultation with local ward members are proposals progressed.  
 
A motion was moved and seconded that the report be deferred to allow for a 3 month 
consultation period the outcome of which be reported to Cabinet in the autumn.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms and verbal confirmation and in noting there were 6 for, 28 against and 1 
abstention the motion was declared lost. 

 
  
 The comments of the Joint Scrutiny Committee and the Officer’s report were noted. 
 
 
 The meeting closed at 8.00pm 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 
 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  
21ST OCTOBER 2021  

 
 

SUBJECT:  HOMELESS PROJECT PLAN  
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING  
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To inform members of  the Homeless Project Plan that has been set for the 

Housing Solutions team for the period 2021/2022 based on the current 
identified key service area priorities to enhance the service, and seek their 
views prior to its presentation to Cabinet on 10th November 2021.  

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Members will be aware that all local authorities saw an increase in Homeless 

Presentations and referrals into interim Emergency accommodation from March 2020 
as a direct result of the Covid 19 pandemic and the directive from Welsh Government 
that “ no one should be left sleeping out“.  The Homeless Project Plan identifies key 
work areas that will assist CCBC housing solutions team to address this increase and 
refocus on preventative measures rather than being crisis led.  

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members are requested to note the content of the report and the Homeless Project 

Plan.  
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that members are informed of the service area priorities outlined in the 

Homeless Project Plan.  
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 

Introduction  
 
5.1    The Housing Solutions team have been working to deliver the service in line with the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Housing Wales Act 2015 and the Gwent Homeless Strategy 2018-2022, which has 
historically focused on the prevention of Homelessness rather than it being Crisis led.  

 
5.2 As a direct result of the Covid 19 pandemic in March 2020 the service moved to a 

Crisis led model in order to meet the increase in demand for assistance . 
 
5.3 The Homeless Project Plan now sets out the service area priorities that will allow the 

Housing Solutions Service to review and refocus on the prevention of Homelessness.  
 
5.4 The Homeless Project Plan is an interim plan and will be superseded in 2022 by both 

the Caerphilly Council Homeless Strategy and the Rapid Rehousing Transitional Plan 
which needs to be submitted in draft to Welsh Government by June 2022.  

 
5.5 Both of these Strategies will set out the five year action plan for Caerphilly to reduce 

Homelessness in the borough and ensure that those presenting to the Housing 
Solutions Service with  Housing and Support Needs will be accommodated as rapidly 
as possible and will either prevent the need to access emergency accommodation or 
reduce time spent in emergency  accommodation.  

 
Homeless Project Plan Objectives  

 
5.6 Proactive and Accessible Service – To improve the contact and communication 

with the service and ensure contact and appropriate relevant information can be 
obtained and shared across all mediums. 

 
5.7 Focus on Prevention -ensure swift  access to accommodation and support services 

to maximise prevention of Homelessness and to increase positive and successful 
outcomes for the service. To   ensure that our current joint working, partnership 
arrangements and referral pathways  maximise Homeless prevention  and are 
reflective of current need.  

 
5.8 Reduce / Address Rough Sleeping – Caerphilly has historically reported an issue 

with Rough Sleeping in the Borough, the Homeless Project Plan has set out its 
objectives to better understand the root cause of why people rough sleep so that this 
can be considered in the future Rapid Rehousing Transitional Plan and to ensure that 
current commissioned services are meeting the need of this vulnerable group. The 
review will allow us to also consider the future needs of accommodation and the 
accommodation pathways on offer to support this vulnerable co-hort into more stable 
and settled accommodation.  

 
5.9 Rapid Rehousing Transitional Plan/ Housing First - The Homeless Project Plan 

recognises the need to develop in line with Welsh Government Requirements a 
Rapid Rehousing Transitional plan to be submitted in draft by June 2022.  A Report 
will be compiled and presented to Committee at a later date that will clearly outline 
the proposals being taken forward to address this for Caerphilly Council.  We have 
started to expand on our Housing First Model and have implemented a Young 
Persons Housing First Scheme delivered by Llamau and an 18plus Scheme 
delivered by Pobl. The intention now is to enhance this and increase where 
applicable the support provision available to maximise those on scheme and to work 
with Common Housing Register Partners to provide accommodation to deliver this 
model. Housing First will also be considered as a specific action and section  within 
the Rapid Rehousing Plan and both are referenced in our Local Housing Strategy as 
key service priorities and objectives.  

 
5.10 Emergency Accommodation – A review is underway to look at reducing time spent 

Page 8



in temporary accommodation and to better understand the barriers that prevent move 
on and look at longer term strategic plans to overcome these. This will also allow us 
to  consider in line with the Rapid Rehousing Transitional Plan how  Caerphilly 
wishes to deliver a temporary emergency accommodation model that is inclusive for 
all going forward.  

 
5.11 Partnership / Multi Agency Working – The project plan recognises the importance 

that to deliver the objectives and prevent and tackle the root  cause of Homelessness 
that working with key stakeholders and Statutory and Non-Statutory agencies will be 
key in addressing this.  A review  of current partnership / multi agency working 
arrangements is underway and where necessary models will be changed or set up to 
support the service in delivering this objective .  

 
5.12 Caerphilly Keys – Throughout the Pandemic we have been able to continue to 

expand this service area and offer Private Sector accommodation with landlords 
attached to the scheme suitable and permanent accommodation.  Caerphilly Council 
secured Phase 2 Welsh Government funding to increase the private sector stock 
portfolio for Caerphilly for 6 additional PRS units of accommodation that will be 
offered to those who are Homeless/ threatened with Homelessness.  Caerphilly Keys 
will have its own Website launched in October which should enhance the profile of 
the scheme and attract additional landlords and a media strategy to promote this is 
being devised at this time following the website launch this month.  

 
5.13 A future report will be submitted to Committee for a decision to be made on if we 

adopt the Welsh Government Lease Scheme Model for PRS accommodation or we 
remain with Caerphilly Keys as the preventative tool to prevent Homelessness and 
discharge our Statutory duty into the private rented sector.  

 
5.14 Review of Allocations Policy-  A review of the Allocation Policy will need to be 

considered as the Policy will need to be reflective of future legislative reform for 
Rapid Rehousing and will also need to be reflective of current need and demand and 
be transparent and easy for all those applying for accommodation in the borough to 
understand.  

 
5.15 Digital / Comms – A review has taken place to ensure we have the relevant 

equipment to ensure we are able to assess applications across the service in a 
timely, person focused customer friendly way.  As a result of this a new phone 
system has been purchased and will be implemented across the Housing Solution 
Team and an upgrade to the current IT system used within the service area has been  
included as part of a larger Housing Division  procurement process for ICT systems 
and support.  

 
5.16 Staff Training / Performance – A comprehensive training plan is being developed to 

ensure all staff within the service area have access to the relevant and appropriate 
training  materials to support them in delivering in their roles. There is consideration 
being given to develop specific roles within the service area to better tackle and 
enhance the prevention of Homeless model  and an example of this is that of  Rough 
Sleepers / Those with offending backgrounds.  

 
  Conclusion   
 
5.17 The Homeless Project Plan has highlighted the key areas where service review is  

being undertaken to prepare for future reports to be submitted to the Committee to 
outline the Strategic Plan. The Plan  will also allow for some service delivery 
adjustments to be made at core future periods of time to enhance the service and 

Page 9



work with the Local Authorities  Strategic and Corporate Wellbeing Objectives.  
 

 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 The Homeless Project Plan has been compiled based on the assumption that the 

current resources attached to the service area can assist us in driving forward the 
priority areas , however should this not be the case then current allocated service 
area budget would allow for interim changes to be made to improve aspects of the 
service area and Covid 19 funding from WG continues to offer financial support to the 
Authority until March 2022 for emergency accommodation placements.  

 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 An IIA has not been completed  to accompany this report as it is for information only. 

Should further specific Reports be bought forward in the future attached to the 
Homeless Strategy and Rapid Rehousing Plan  then a comprehensive IIA will be 
completed to accompany these reports.  

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no immediate financial implications attached to the Homeless Project Plan 

that at this time that cannot be met by current service area budgets.  
 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There have  been some additional posts created within the Housing Solutions Team 

to allow us to meet the demands and needs of the service area and future 
consideration will be given to the staffing structure to deliver the Rapid Rehousing 
transitional Plan once drafted.  

 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in the report.  
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 N/A 
  
 
Author: Kerry Denman, Housing Solutions Manager 

(Email: denmak@caerphilly.gov.uk , Tel: 01443 873544) 
 

Consultees: Cllr John Ridgewell - Chair Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr Mike Adams  - Vice Chair Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Lisa Phipps  - Cabinet Member for Housing 
Dave Street  - Corporate Director for Social Services and Housing 
Robert Tranter  - Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
Stephen Harris  - Head of Financial Services & Section 151 Officer 
Fiona Wilkins  - Housing Services Manager 

Page 10

mailto:denmak@caerphilly.gov.uk


Jane Roberts-Waite - Strategy & Co-ordination Manager 
Lesley Allen  - Principal Group Accountant (Housing) 
Shelly Jones  - Supporting People Manager 
Sadie O’Connor  - Senior Housing Advice Officer 
Lee Clapham  - Emergency Housing Manager 
David Francis  - Senior Allocations Officer 
Byron Jones  - Caerphilly Keys Officer 
 

Background  
Papers: Housing  Wales Act 2015 

Gwent Homeless Strategy  
Housing Support Grant Strategy  
Local Housing Market Assessment  
Welsh Government Covid 19 Guidance  
Welsh Government Homeless Action Group  Rapid Rehousing Draft guidance  

 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Homeless Project Plan 
 
 

Page 11



 

Page 12



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Caerphilly County Borough Council  

Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan 
 

 

 

April 2021 - March 2022 
 

 

 

  

 

P
age 13



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 1 
 
Provide an 
accessible, 
proactive service 
that is person 
centred and 
inclusive for all 
and to increase 
engagement of 
service users in 
addressing 
homelessness. 
 
 
To provide clear 
information on 
Homelessness, 
prevention and 
access to 
accommodation 
and support 
services  

 
 

 Review the 
current service 
delivery area by 
undertaking a 
series of 
workshops to 
review practices 
and process to 
streamline these.  

 
 
 

 Work with the 
Crisis falling out 
project to 
undertake service 
user consultation 
via phone/ 
written 
questionnaire 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 

 Lead 
Officer  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman   

 Crisis 
Falling out 
Project 
team  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 December 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing for 
consistent 
service 
feedback  

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Reluctance to 
move with change/ 
Service Pressures/ 
time Limitations  

 Risk level is 
assessed at 
medium impact.  

 
 
 
 
 

 Engagement from 
service users may 
be limited/ 
dissatisfaction with 
services/ services 
not meeting 
people’s needs. 
(Risk level 
considered to be 
high and imminent)  

 Medium risk of 
inappropriate 
advice/ customer 
care being 
provided.  

 
 

 Staff/ 
support 
workers/ 
voluntary and 
statutory 
agency 
feedback  

 
 

 Implement 
identified 
changes from 
feedback/consu
ltation sessions  

 
 

 No additional 
Resources 
required at 
this time / 
will utilise 
current 
staffing 
Structure  

 P
age 14



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

 Desktop review 
assessment 
paperwork and 
framework and 
available 
literature to 
support advice  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 Crisis 
Project  

 
 
 
 

 

 Ongoing  

P
age 15



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

 Priority 2  
 
Reduce/ Address 
Rough Sleeping 
and Repeat 
Presentations  

 
 

 Review Data 
recording 
mechanisms  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Ensure we tackle 
route cause of 
Rough Sleeping  

 

 
 
 
 
 

 Review data on 
repeat 
presentation 
cases and route 
causes  

 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman   

 With 
project 
team  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 
 
 

 
 

Ongoing  

 
 

 Increase in Rough 
sleeping – Risk 
level medium. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Complex 
presenting needs 
and current EA 
units not being 
able to manage 
these. Risk level 
High and imminent  

 

 Delayed Move on 
due to lack of 
properties. Risk 
level high and 
imminent.  

 
 

 
 

 Cornerstone 
/ Probation / 
Those 
identified as 
Rough 
sleeping / 
repeat 
presenters / 
Crisis project 
and shelter 
take notice 
project 

 
 

 As we identify 
rough sleepers, 
we may need to 
modify access 
to 
accommodation
/ support 
service as we 
move through 
the project  

 
 

 Increase in 
Emergency 
accommodat
ion stock 
profile. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Increase in 
possible 
costs for 
Emergency 
accommodat
ion units to 
meet 
demand.  

P
age 16



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

 Consider future 
service 
commissioning to 
ensure 
accommodation 
and support 
needs can be met  

 

 Kerry 
Denman 
in 
conjuncti
on with 
Shelly 
Jones HSG 
lead  

 

 
 Current models of 

accommodation do 
not support Rapid 
rehousing and 
Housing first 
models. Risk level 
High and 
imminent.  

 

 RSL partners may 
not be on board to 
work with models / 
support agencies 
may not be 
commissioned to 
the level that we 
require to succeed 
with these models 
– Risk level 
medium.  
 

  

P
age 17



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 3  
 

Re focus on 
Prevention and 
increasing 
successful 
outcomes  

 
 

 Hold workshops 
to remind staff of 
the prevention 
tools available 
within CCBC and 
continue to 
develop Key 
prevention 
toolkits and 
pathways.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 September  
2021 / 
Ongoing  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 May identify that 
current tools are no 
longer effective 
and may need 
modification Need 
to consider Covid 
19 impact on some 
prevention options 
and tools and if 
outcomes / 
pathways are still 
as successful i.e. 
mediation. This will 
be done through 
data comparison. 
Risk level medium.  

 

 RSL landlords may 
not have consistent 
approaches / 
different views on 
course of action to 
take. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Staff/ 
statutory and 
non-
statutory 
agencies 
attached to 
prevention 
options  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 RSL partners 
through 
operational 
(monthly)and 
strategic 
steering 
group 
(quarterly) to 
tackle and 
address key 
areas.    
 
 

 
 
 

 Internal 
Resources 
will be 
utilised with 
no additional 
resources 
being 
required at 
this time.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Financial 
impact on 
current HSG 
award may 
be identified. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 18



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Consult with all 
public and private 
landlords on 
prevention of 
homelessness in 
line with Shelters 
no eviction from 
RSL into 
Homelessness 
project  

 

 Attend landlord 
forums and 
highlight 
homelessness 
services and 
support services 
to prevent 
Homelessness / 
consider a direct 
referral pathway 
into the service 
for landlords who 
identify tenancy 
risks at an early 
stage  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with 
Byron 
Jones 
/David 
Francis /  

 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with  

 Byron 
Jones  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 PRS landlords may 
not wish to engage 
or some have 
negative view of 
prevention / LA 
previous negative 
experience. 
Medium risk.  

 
 
 

 Landlords may 
have a negative 
view of the LA and 
work we do / may 
not want to 
partnership work as 
they have a 
selection of other 
tenants they can 
pick. Need to break 
down perception 
and barriers with 
them. Risk level 
high.  

 
 

Estate agents 
and 
landlords 
registered in 
the borough. 

 

 Partners of 
forum and 
NRLA  

 Caerphilly 
Keys Officer  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 As above  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 19



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 Review Offender 
Accommodation 
Pathway and how 
can we enhance 
this – consider 
need of an 
Offender Officer 
within the team  

 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with Sadie 
O’Connor  

 
 

 November 
2021 

 
 

 Increase in 
Offender 
presentations is 
likely and increase 
in risk factors and 
complex needs. 
Risk is high 

 
 

 Possible 
change / 
increase in 
staffing 
structure 
(Additional 
officer can 
be funded 
via HSG) 
 

P
age 20



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

  
  

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure 
/ Lead 
Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 4 
 
Investigate the 
‘Drop Out’ 
withdrawal of 
application data  

 
 

 Work with the 
Crisis Falling Out 
project on this  

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
along 
with 
project 
team  

 
 

 Dec 21/ Jan 
22  

 
 

 May not be able to 
immediately 
implement 
recommended 
changes to current 
service provision / 
available stock / 
costs Risk level 
medium  

 
 

 
 

 Partner 
agencies / 
RSL / service 
users / 
voluntary 
agencies / 
shelter  

 
 

 Monthly review 
sessions will be 
held as 
management 
team and 
possible early 
implementation 
of some 
recommendatio
ns may be 
undertaken to 
improve service 
delivery and 
customer 
experience  
 

 

 
 

 Internal 
resource and 
utilising the 
Crisis project  

P
age 21



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 5  
 
Maximise access 
to appropriate 
support services 
and increase the 
provision of 
more inclusive 
housing models 
through Housing 
First / Rapid 
Rehousing / 
Assertive 
Outreach, to be 
able to meet 
and address 
those presenting 
with Complex 
needs. 

 
 

 To review current 
support services 
available in the 
borough and 
ensure they 
respond to 
current 
presenting needs.  

 
 
 

 To maximise 
publicity of 
support services. 

 
 
 
 
 

 To link in and 
partner Caerphilly 
Cares and 
consider a referral 
pathway for 
advice and 
support or co 
locate an advice 
officer if needed.  

 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with SP 
manager 
Shelly 
Jones  

 
 
 
 
 

 Shelly 
Jones 
/Kerry 
Denman 
with 
Media 
team  

 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 
 

 Jan 2022  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 August 
2021 / 
Ongoing  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 May not be able to 
meet demand or 
have the specialist 
services readily 
available for 
access.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Supporting 
People and 
Providers  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Media team  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 Caerphilly 

Cares 
Manager and 
team  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 May need to 
look at 
restructure/ re 
alignment of 
service 
provision to 
meet the 
immediate 
presenting need 
where possible  

 
 

 Use of 
current 
resources 
and re 
alignment of 
services  

P
age 22



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

 To engage RSL 
partners to 
deliver properties 
Housing First / 
Rapid rehousing 
scheme  

 

 
 
 To look at the 

future needs of 
supported 
accommodation 
to ensure that 
within the 
borough we have 
units available to 
meet presenting 
needs  

 

 Ongoing 
and to 
incorporate 
in Rapid 
Rehousing 
Transitional 
Plan  

 
 

 November 
/ December 
2021  

 

 Some partners may 
be averse to 
working with the 
model due to the 
possible complex 
needs of clients 
and former 
tenancy history.  
 

 Stock availability 
 

 Medium risk  
 

 Funding resources 
and time, it may 
take to commission 
services / acquire 
suitable 
accommodation 
units can impact 
success and cause 
delays. Medium 
Risk   

 

 RSL partners 
and potential 
PRS landlords  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Supporting 
People 
Manager and 
team  

  

P
age 23



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 6  
 
Review Current 
Emergency 
accommodation 
provision, 
pathway and 
risk 
management 
practices to 
ensure that we 
are making best 
use of resource 
and 
maximisation of 
move on  

 
 

 To hold 
workshops with 
staff. 

 
  
 
 
 

 Profile 
accommodation 
provisions and 
identify gaps in 
risk management 
and support 
available to 
sustain 
placements  

 

 Identify gaps in 
provision and 
consider for 
future need and 
planning  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with Lee 
Clapham  

 
 
 
 

 Lee 
Clapham  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 January 
2022  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 January 
2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  

 
 

 Current practices/ 
process may be 
compounding 
issues. Staff may 
not be adequately 
trained.  

 High Risk.  
  

 Available stock 
provision is not as 
we would want 
and reliant on Bed 
and Breakfast units 
which vary in 
standard. High Risk  

 
 
 

 May not be able to 
provide what is 
required via 
funding / 
commissioning or 
support of 
emergency 
accommodation 
units. High Risk 

 

 
 

 Staff / 
Support 
workers  

 
 
 
 
 

 Desktop and 
landlords  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Desktop 
consultation  

 
 

 May need to 
adopt process 
and pathways 
as any barriers 
are identified 
and adapt any 
additional work 
plan to fit this  

 
 

 Financial and 
additional 
building 
resources 
may be 
required for 
future 
growth.  

P
age 24



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

 (NB whilst 
undertaking this 
have regard for 
the WG Homeless 
Action Group 
focus on LA’S 
having multi 
agency 
assessment and 
accommodation 
centres). 

 

 

 Members may be 
objective to certain 
types of 
accommodation 
within areas 
proving difficult to 
move forward and 
implement.  
 

 Demand for more 
complex units may 
not be viable. High 
Risk  

 
 

  

P
age 25



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 7  
 
Work with RSL 
partners and 
private landlords 
to prevent 
homelessness 
and promote 
sustainable 
tenancies and 
increase the 
access and 
availability into 
this 
accommodation  

 
 

 Arrange meetings 
with RSL partners 
/ set up pathways 
and review key 
issues  

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 
 

 Ongoing 

 
 

 Level of tenants at 
risk may be high 
and levels of 
arrears or ASB may 
be unpreventable. 
High Risk 

 

 Availability of 1 
bed 
accommodation is 
still an issue and 
whilst phase two 
fun to bring on 
additional units is 
moving forward 
this is not 
immediate and 
volume is small in 
comparison to 
demand. Current 
lettings policy can 
exclude the most 
vulnerable / 
general housing 
may not be the 
right option for 
some.  High Risk   

 
 

 
 

 RSL partners  

  
 

 No extra 
resource 
required  

P
age 26



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

 
Priority 8 
 
Enhance and 
maximise the 
current 
Caerphilly Keys 
PRS scheme  

 
 
 

 Promote the 
service through 
media avenues / 
engage with 
known landlords 
to provide 
additional units of 
the scheme  

 

 Consider how the 
scheme could 
evolve and 
provide more 
services (have 
regard to WG 
Social letting 
agency pilot) and 
bring services in 
house  

 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with 
Byron 
Jones  

 
 
 

 Ongoing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Jan/Feb 
2022 

 
 
 

 May not draw any 
additional 
landlords / 
landlords with right 
property portfolio  

 
 
 
 

 May be financial 
constraints if 
incentives/ 
packages to bring 
landlords on board 
is a barrier/ may 
not be able to 
meet landlords’ 
unrealistic 
expectations on 
service delivery for 
scheme  

 
 
 

 Media team/ 
Current 
Caerphilly keys 
landlords  

 
 
 
 

 Desktop review/ 
review WG RSL 
pilot and speak 
to authorities 
involved for 
feedback. Hold 
engagement 
event with 
landlords to 
scope out what 
incentives/ 
packages would 
be attractive to 
them then 
consult 
internally on 
viability. 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 No additional 
resource 
required.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Potential for 
increase in 
financial 
commitment 
to consider 
landlord 
incentives 
etc/ Fee 
charged for 
services if we 
were to 
create own 
SLA scheme.  

P
age 27



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 9 
 
Partnership/ 
Multiagency 
working – 
engage 
stakeholders 
and key partner 
agencies to 
ensure we are 
working 
collaboratively 
with the 
Housing Solution 
Team to meet 
the identified 
core housing 
and support 
needs of 
residents within 
CCBC  

 
 

 MAPPA protocol 
and partnership 
for effective 
management of 
High-risk 
offenders 

 

 Develop Young 
Person 
Accommodation 
Pathway and 
review Step 
Forward process 

 
 
 
 

 Work with 
internal 
departments to 
maximise 
prevention 
referral pathways  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 

 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with 
Karen 
Williams 
Children’s 
services 
and Shelly 
Jones – SP  

 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 
 

 Ongoing  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 December 
2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  

  
 

 Probation 
/Police /Pobl/ 
Cornerstone  

 
 
 
 

 Social Services/ 
Supporting 
People/ Llamau  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 HB/ CAB/ RSL/ 
Caerphilly 
homes/ 
Caerphilly cares 
/ Llamau and 
other key 
identified 
partners . 

 
 

  
 

 No additional 
resource 
required. 

 
 
 
 

 Additional 
recruitment 
but agreed 
funding via 
Supporting 
People.  

 
 
 

 No additional 
resource.  

P
age 28



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 10 
 
Undertake 
review of CCBC 
Allocations 
Policy  

 
 

 Consider review 
of key aspects of 
allocation policy 
including rent 
arrears policy/ 
affordability 
assessment / 
banding structure 
  

 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
and Mark 
Jennings  

 
 

 2022 in line 
with Rapid 
Rehousing 
Plans  

 
 

 Partners may be 
reluctant to change 
and not be 
consistent with 
responses – 
Medium risk  

 
 

 Housing 
Strategy / CHR 
partners / Legal  

  
 

 N/A  

  P
age 29



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 11 
 
Digital / Comms 
System Review  

 
 

 MICC Phone 
system to be 
installed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Paperless system 
being adopted.  

 
 
 
 

 ICT systems 
review and 
upgrade 
consideration  

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman  

 
 
 
 

 Kerry 
Denman / 
Jackie 
Shorte  

 
 

 October/ 
November 
2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 March 2022 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  

 
 

 Delays with laptops 
for some staff may 
delay full 
implementation 
across the teams. 
Medium risk.  

 
 
 

 Adaption to new 
way of working 
may take others 
longer- Medium 
Risk.  

 

 Financial 
constraints for 
upgrade of system. 
Training and 
Implementation of 
any adjustments 
can affect 
introduction of 
system.  High Risk. 

 
 
 

 
 

 Rachel 
Meredith 
Comms  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 All staff 
within HS 
team  

 
 
 

 Abritas/ 
Finance and 
Dave Street / 
CMT  

 
 

 Small works 
orders may be 
implemented as 
identified so 
work plan for 
staff is 
subjective to 
change  

 
 

 Incur 
additional 
costs for 
further 
licences and 
ICT 
equipment. 

 
 

 No additional 
resources 
required.  

 
 
 

 Financial 
resource may 
be required 
to purchase 
upgrades.  

 

P
age 30



Appendix 1     Caerphilly County Council Housing Solutions Homeless Project Plan – April 2021 - March 2022 

 

 

 

Priorities/ 
Objectives 

Deliverables/ Actions Structure / 
Lead Officer 

Date to be 
completed 

Risk Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Change 
Management 

Resource 

Priority 12 
 
Staff 
Performance 
and Training  

 
 

 1:1 to be held 
with staff and 
review staff 
performance in 
line with policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Training plan to 
be implemented 
for all staff as a 
team and 
individually. 

 
 

 Kerry 
Denman 
for senior 
staff  

 
 

 Senior 
staff for 
other 
staff  

 

 Kerry 
Denman 
with 
Senior 
Staff from 
each 
team  

 

 
 

 Ongoing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Ongoing  

 
 

 Identification of 
performance and 
capabilities within 
the team – High 
Risk.  

 

 Staff Feedback may 
not be as 
expected- Medium 
risk  

 

 Face to face 
training impacted 
by current Covid 19 
guidance. High 
Risk.  

 
 

 Staff and 
Training 
Programmes 
/providers  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 No additional 
Resource 
required. 
Financial 
costs for 
Training.  

 

Kerry Denman 
Housing Solutions Manager 

 

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  
21ST OCTOBER 2021 

 
 
SUBJECT: LOCAL HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-26 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek the views of Joint Scrutiny Committee on the new Local Housing Strategy, ‘An 

Agenda for Change 2021-26’ prior to its presentation to Cabinet on 27th October 2021.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In the summer of 2020 the Council appointed Arc4 Ltd to assist it to produce a new Local 

Housing Strategy.  
 
2.2 A robust methodology was agreed with Arc4 to complete the various stages of 

development and a plan was put in place to effectively manage the project.  
 
2.3 At various stages of the project consultation took place with key stakeholders, both 

internal and external.  Views of residents were sought via a 9-week public consultation 
exercise, which took place between July and September 2021.  

 
2.4 The Strategy covers the period December 2021 to December 2026.  The objectives within 

the Strategy will be met via a range of actions, which will be outlined in a Delivery Plan. 
 
2.5 An investment plan will be formulated by March 2022 and will underpin the Delivery Plan.  
 
2.6 Progress on the actions contained in the Delivery Plan will be monitored on a biannual 

basis by the Affordable Homes Partnership and reported to the Housing & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Committee periodically. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That the contents of this report are noted and discussed by Joint Scrutiny Committee and 

that any amendments or clarifications are raised in advance of the Cabinet meeting on 
the 27th October 2021.  

 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Local Housing Strategy sets out the strategic housing priorities of the Council and 

provides a framework for the Council and its partners to tackle a range of housing needs  
including homelessness, housing disrepair, a lack of suitable accommodation etc., which 
prevent people living in safe, good quality, affordable homes located in vibrant and 
sustainable communities.  

 
4.2 To ensure that the Council’s own priorities align with Welsh Government’s national policy 

context on themes including homelessness prevention, affordable housing provision, 
promotion of the foundational economy and reducing carbon emissions.  

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The Welsh Government’s Review of Affordable Housing undertaken in 2019 has led to 

significant changes to the way in which homes are funded, delivered and managed hence 
a new, updated Strategy which reflects these changes and takes into account the impact 
of Brexit and Covid-19 is required.  The last strategy expired in 2013.  

 
5.2 In the summer of 2020 the Council appointed Arc4, consultants experienced in 

developing housing strategies throughout England and Wales, to assist in the 
development and production of a new Local Housing Strategy.   

 
5.3 A project plan was agreed between the Council and Arc4 to oversee the various stages of 

development of the Strategy, which included: 
 

a. A literature review of local and national policy context; 
b. Interviews with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Housing, Council 

officers and partner organisations to identify issues and priorities; 
c. Analysis of a robust evidence base to identify key housing issues and highlight key 

strategic direction; 
d. Production of a concept document which outlined the proposed principles, sections 

and key messages of a draft Local Housing Strategy; 
e. Extensive consultation on the concept document with a wide range of stakeholders; 
f. Production of a draft Local Housing Strategy and revision of the document following a 

public consultation exercise; 
g. Facilitating a series of virtual public consultation events; 
h. Input into the production of the Integrated Impact Assessment; and 
i. Formulation of a collaborative draft Implementation Plan. 

 
5.4 Following interviews with members, officers and partners, Arc 4 produced a Concept 

Document, which outlined the principles, sections and key messages the draft Local 
Housing Strategy would contain.  Stakeholders views were sought on the Concept 
Document in April 2021.  152 stakeholders were contacted, with 27 providing a response 
(17.7%).  The Concept Document was updated in light of responses received. 

 
5.5 To ensure that the final version of the Local Housing Strategy took into consideration the 

aspirations and views of residents and stakeholders, whilst, also complying with statutory 
requirements, a robust consultation methodology was determined in conjunction with the 
Council’s Consultation & Public Engagement Officer.  The type and level of engagement 
achieved as a result of the process was unfortunately constrained due to guidance issued 
by Welsh Government in relation to Covid-19.   

 

Page 34



5.6 In order to gain the views of residents and stakeholders on the contents of the draft Local 
Housing Strategy an online consultation exercise was undertaken between Monday, 12th 
July 2021 and Friday, 3rd September 2021 (9 weeks in total). 

 
5.7 Prior to the commencement of the consultation exercise an A5 poster was delivered to 

every household in the county borough.  The dedicated web page on the Council’s 
website was updated and the Communications team raised awareness of the consultation 
exercise through an article on the News section of the Council’s website, providing a 
press release to local newspapers, via social media and sharing information with partner 
organisations.  A poster was also displayed in Council leisure centres and libraries 
throughout the entire period of the consultation exercise. 

 
5.8 In order to increase levels of accessibility and to encourage responses from a wide range 

of people, the draft Local Housing Strategy was also translated into an Easy Read version 
and a British Sign Language (BSL) video.   

 
5.9 The primary method for providing responses on the draft Local Housing Strategy was via 

an on-line survey, although, alternative methods were made available for people unable 
to use or access the internet and who wanted to contribute.   

 
5.10 In order to try to stimulate a good response rate a prize draw was promoted.  Residents 

completing the survey were entered into the prize draw for a chance to win 1 of 4 high 
street vouchers to the value of £50.  In total, 76 responses were received.  The table 
below provides a breakdown on respondents: 

 

Residents 67 

Other, not specified 3 

CCBC officers 2 

Housing association officer 2 

Voluntary organisation representative 1 

Business person 1 

Total Number of Respondents 76 

  
5.11 A consultation questionnaire was produced to provide feedback on key areas of the Local 

Housing Strategy and to help update the Integrated Impact Assessment.  An open 
question option was provided to allow respondents to comment on areas of the Local 
Housing Strategy not covered in the set questions. 

 
5.12 The consultation showed that: 
 

 64% said that the housing vision was right, with 28% disagreeing and 8% saying they 
don’t know; 

 69% said the cross-cutting themes were right, with 23% disagreeing and 8% saying 
they don’t know; 

 59% said the priorities were right, with 33% disagreeing and 8% saying they don’t 
know; 

 68% said that the Local Housing Strategy would not have a negative impact on them 
because of a protected characteristic, with 15% saying it would and 18% saying they 
don’t know; 

 28% said that the priorities set out in the Local Housing Strategy will help to reduce 
levels of socio-economic disadvantage in the county borough, with 47% saying it 
wouldn’t and 25% saying they don’t know; 

Page 35



 39% said that the priorities set out in the Local Housing Strategy will have a positive 
impact on future generations living in the county borough, with 37% saying it wouldn’t 
and 24% saying they don’t know; and 

 42% said that the priorities set out in the Local Housing Strategy will ensure that the 
Welsh Language is treated no less favourably than the English language, with 23% 
saying it wouldn’t and 35% saying they don’t know. 

 
NB. Not all respondents answered every question so the percentages will not necessarily 
total 100% in every instance. The percentage calculations are based on a small number 
of responses overall.   

 
5.13 After each question respondents were provided with the opportunity to qualify their 

response.  A review of these comments found that respondents may not have in every 
instance answered the question in the context it was set, which may have impacted on 
some of the percentage levels.  However, in general, these comments have been very 
useful in helping to confirm the key parts of the Local Housing Strategy. 

 
5.14 As part of the consultation, respondents were asked to pick a preferred name for the 

Local Housing Strategy. The highest response (39%) suggested, ‘The Caerphilly County 
Borough Housing Strategy: An Agenda for Change.’ 

 
5.15 With no face-to-face engagement permitted, Arc4 also facilitated a series of virtual 

consultation events for residents.  In total, 5 events were arranged between July and 
August, on various days and at different times to try to cater for people who may have 
been in work, on holiday, had caring responsibilities etc.  Unfortunately, interest in the 
virtual sessions was poor. 

 
5.16 All of the responses received through the consultation exercise have been reviewed and a 

document summarising the responses has been produced by Arc4.  The draft Local 
Housing Strategy has been revised by Arc4 in light of some of the responses.  These 
amendments, together with the summary document, were sent to key leads across the 
Council to ensure that all responses have been adequately considered and the Strategy 
updated appropriately.  A copy of the summary document produced will be made 
available for viewing in the Members’ Library. 

 
5.17 Despite the extensive consultation and engagement efforts that were made to ensure 

residents had the opportunity to shape the strategy, the overall response was 
disappointing. Of the responses that were received, there were some consistent 
messages which have been reflected in the strategy including;  

 

 Ensuring new residential developments are accompanied by investments in 
infrastructure.  

 Focus on zero carbon targets and tackling climate change.  

 Rebalance inequity within the housing market to ‘level up’ areas.  

 Create choice and ensure affordability of housing options. 
 
5.18 The draft Local Housing Strategy, revised following the public consultation exercise, sets 

out a vision for housing throughout the county borough.  The vision not only focuses on 
the provision of new housing and the maintenance and improvement of existing homes 
but also focuses on those services which support people to access housing and maintain 
independence to live in their homes for longer.  The vision also focuses on the wider 
community, the environment and maximising the community benefits that can be derived 
from the investment in housing that will take place over the period of the Strategy. 

 

Page 36



5.19 Underpinning the vision are 5 strategic priorities: 
 

1. Creating better choices;  
2. Creating great places to live; 
3. Creating healthy homes and vibrant communities; 
4. Delivering new homes; and 
5. Supporting specialist housing needs. 

 
5.20 In addition to the 5 strategic priorities there are 3 themes which will cut across everything 

the Council and it partners will do over the period of the Strategy: 
 

1. Sustainable development – achieving a better and more sustainable future; 
2. Health and wellbeing – improving health outcomes and promoting wellbeing; and 
3. Equality, diversity and inclusion – providing services without barriers, which respect 

difference and promotes inclusion. 
 
5.21 The Local Housing Strategy will be accompanied by a Delivery Plan.  The purpose of the 

Delivery Plan will be to outline the range of actions which the Council and/or its partners 
will undertake to realise the 5 objectives set out in the Strategy.   

 
5.22 It is proposed that the Delivery Plan will be monitored on a biannual basis by the 

Affordable Homes Partnership, with periodic update reports being presented to the 
Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee.  The Delivery Plan and supporting 
Investment Plan will be formulated over the next few months and presented to the 
Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee later this year.  

 
5.23 Upon receipt of approval by Cabinet the Local Housing Strategy will be sent to the 

Graphic Design team for professional design.  The Strategy will also be reproduced in an 
Easy Read version and as a BSL video. 

 
Conclusion 

 
5.24 The Local Housing Strategy clearly sets out the strategic housing priorities of the Council 

and aligns with Welsh Government’s national policy context.  
 
5.25 The Local Housing Strategy will provide a framework from the provision of housing and 

related services throughout the county borough over the next 5 years. 
 
5.26 The Delivery Plan will set out those actions to be undertaken by the Council and/or its 

partners to improve the housing situation throughout the county borough. 
 
5.27 The Investment Plan will detail how the actions contained within the Delivery Plan will be 

resourced.  
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The Local Housing Strategy is based on an in-depth analysis of housing needs 
throughout the county borough.  The housing vision outlined in the Strategy assumes that 
a series of actions will be undertaken in order to realise this vision. 

 
6.2 The Delivery Plan will set out the actions that the Council and/or its partners will 

undertake over the period of the Strategy in order to improve the housing situation 
throughout the county borough.  Where noted, it is assumed that sufficient resources will 
be made available to undertake those actions. 

Page 37



 
 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 The Integrated Impact Assessment suggests that the Local Housing Strategy will have a 

positive impact upon the residents of the county borough.  
 
7.2 By providing a framework to meet the diverse range of housing needs throughout the 

county borough the Local Housing Strategy will have a positive impact on equality, 
diversity and inclusion, on tackling social disadvantage and on promoting the wellbeing of 
existing and future generations.  The actions that will be contained within the Delivery 
Plan are expected to contribute, both directly and indirectly, to several of the Council’s 
wellbeing objectives and will not have an adverse impact on the promotion of the Welsh 
language. 

 
7.3 Hyperlink to IIA. 
 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The successful outcome of the Local Housing Strategy is dependent on the availability of 

resources to achieve the successful delivery of each of the specific actions that will be 
outlined in the Delivery Plan.  

 
8.2 The funding required to take the actions that will be outlined in the Delivery Plan forward 

will come from a variety of sources including Welsh Government grants, the General 
Fund, Housing Revenue Account, partner organisations own funding streams and private 
finance. An investment plan will be formulated to underpin the Delivery Plan thereby 
detailing which resources will be allocated or sought and from where.  

 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no personnel implications arising directly from the report.  However, there may 

be personnel implications arising out of the actions that may be included within the 
Delivery Plan.  Such implications will be considered by the relevant organisation prior to 
the commencement of said action. 

 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
10.1 Consultation has been carried out at various stages of development of the Local Housing 

Strategy, as outlined in section 5 above.  
 
10.2 Comments from Consultees are reflected in the report.  
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1  Local Government Act 2014, Housing Wales Act 2014 
 
Author: Jane Roberts-Waite, Strategic Coordination Manager  

(Email: roberj2@caerphilly.gov.uk, Tel: 01443 864340) &  
Mark Jennings, Principal Housing Strategy Officer 

Page 38

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/IIA/iia-form-strategy-development-caerphilly-homes
mailto:roberj2@caerphilly.gov.uk


(Email: jennim1@caerphilly.gov.uk, Tel: 01443 863121) 
 
Consultees: Cllr Lisa Phipps, Cabinet Member for Housing 

Cllr John Ridgewell, Chair – Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Cllr Mike Adams, Vice Chair – Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Dave Street, Acting Chief Executive & Corporate Director for Social Services  
and Housing  
Richard (Ed) Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education & Corporate Services  
Mark S Williams, Corporate Director of Communities  
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services & Section 151 Officer 
Mark Williams, Interim Head of Property Services  
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration & Planning 
Fiona Wilkins, Housing Services Manager 
Kerry Denman, Housing Solutions Manager 
Lesley Allen, Principal Group Accountant (Housing) 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer – Equalities, Welsh Language and 
Consultation 
Liz Sharma, Consultation and Public Engagement Officer 
 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Draft Local Housing Strategy 2021-2026 
 

Page 39

mailto:jennim1@caerphilly.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



 

Appendix 1 

Caerphilly County Borough Housing Strategy: An 
Agenda for Change – December 2021 to 
December 2026 
 

Introduction by Cllr. Lisa Phipps, Cabinet Member for Housing 
 
 
 
 
Wording to be inserted here  

Page 41



 

Our vision for the Housing Offer in Caerphilly County Borough 
 
Our housing offer will be an affordable and attractive one. It will support an excellent 
quality of life, being connected economically, physically and socially and in 
communities to be proud of. 
 
The new homes that are built will improve choice and quality.  New homes will be 
zero net carbon and through retrofitting of existing homes we will deliver climate 
resilient homes in response to the climate emergency. Existing homes will be well 
managed and receive the investment that they need to ensure their safety, security, 
warmth and physical accessibility. 
 
There will be a safe, decent and affordable offer regardless of whether people buy or 
rent in the social or private rented sector. 
 
For those requiring specialist accommodation, in need, homeless or at risk of 
becoming homeless, there will be options and support available. 
 
Our homes and communities will deliver high quality green infrastructure and 
promote good health. 
 
In order to achieve this vision the Council will work alongside our partners to support 
mixed communities to thrive and provide services that meet the needs and 
aspirations of all residents. 
 
Five strategic priorities have been identified to help achieve the vision: 
 

Creating Better Choices 
 
We are focusing on Person Centred Solutions, moving away from blanket ground 
policies and engaging more with residents so that we may better understand 
people’s needs, develop tailored solutions that promote equality and reduce 
inequality. This will bring new offers for first time buyers, keyworkers, people 
requiring adaptations, people in mid and later life and people who rent their home. 

 
Creating Great Places to Live 

 
We believe that good design and creating sustainable, liveable places will help 
deliver strong, lasting communities with housing that people want. Our regeneration 
and investment plans will seek to rebalance housing markets across the County 
Borough. Collectively we will invest in environmentally sustainable and energy-
efficient materials and technologies for new and existing homes thereby delivering 
on the climate emergency that the Council has declared. 
 

Creating Healthy Homes & Vibrant Communities 

 
Our Local Housing Strategy cuts across tenure to offer support, advice and solutions 
to improve the quality and health of people’s lives and homes. We will promote the 
Caerphilly Cares model and we will work in partnership with Private Landlords to 

Page 42



 

improve the offer for tenants and use all available powers to tackle poor quality 
accommodation 
 

Delivering New Homes 

 
Caerphilly is ‘Open for Business’. Recognising that whilst there are challenges to 
delivery there is a determination and plan to create innovative solutions that will 
establish models and funding to bring new housing into communities, supported with 
new infrastructure. The Council will build new Council homes and invest in the 
housing market to support housing providers to build more homes. 
 

Supporting Specialist Housing Needs 

 
A specialist accommodation prospectus will drive forward new development that 
supports independence and positive pathways for people with complex needs. We 
will focus on preventing homelessness and rough sleeping by providing specialist 
and timely advice and increased housing options. 
 
These priorities are informed by evidence of housing need in the County Borough 
and what we have heard from our residents and partners. 
 
In addition to the five priorities, we are also committing to the following cross-cutting 
themes that reflect our values and commitments: 
 

 Sustainable development – achieving a better and more sustainable future 
 

 Health and wellbeing – improving health outcomes and promoting wellbeing. 
 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion – providing services without barriers, which 
respect difference and promote inclusion 

 

Delivering the strategy 
 
The strategy is supported by a Delivery Plan, developed in partnership, which sets 
out what will be done, when and by whom, to deliver on each of the key priorities. 
We will continue to monitor our progress, inviting scrutiny to drive up quality and 
benchmark performance. 
 

  

Page 43



 

Creating Better Choices  
 
Some people choose to buy, whilst others rent a home and people need to make 
different choices throughout their life. We are committed to supporting people to be 
able to have access to a good quality, secure and affordable home regardless of 
whether they rent or buy. This means that we need to ensure that there is a choice of 
homes across Caerphilly in terms of size and type of housing and at different prices 
and rents. Living where you can afford and having security, helps people put down 
roots and have a stable base, a sense of community and belonging and so the 
quality of the management of rented homes also affects choice. 
 
Using the Local Housing Market Assessment we will set out plans to create a more 
balanced housing offer for different groups of people. Our priorities will focus on co-
producing tailored solutions to help remove barriers that people in our housing 
market currently experience. This will promote equality and diversity and underpin 
health and wellbeing. We want to ensure that there are housing choices for 
everybody living in Caerphilly from first time buyers to households looking to upsize 
as their family grows, right through to ‘right sizing’ for people in later life. 
 

Support for People Who Want to Buy a Home 
 
The social landlords working in Caerphilly have a successful track record of 
delivering affordable home-ownership options. The Council want to widen this offer 
and are introducing a Low-Cost Home Ownership product for people that aspire to 
home ownership but cannot afford to buy, without financial assistance.  It will enable 
people to buy a home, delivered through s.106 agreements or through homes built 
by the Council, and will typically offer an equity loan of up to 30% but this could be 
higher to reduce the purchase price of new homes. It will be promoted to lower- and 
middle-income first-time buyers and key workers wanting to access affordable home 
ownership and during the lifetime of this strategy, we will explore the potential of 
introducing a similar product for properties on the existing housing market. 
 
We want to attract more people to move to the north of the County Borough and will 
research potential products that may help achieve this. We want to attract first time 
buyers, tenants wanting to buy, newly forming households, graduates returning to 
Caerphilly and key workers. It could follow a ‘homesteading’ model that offers homes 
at below market value but requiring investment and could form part of the empty 
home’s strategy. 
 

Support for People Who Own Their Home 
 
We think that challenges of affordability may be limiting households to move as their 
families expand and we will test this in the Local Housing Market Assessment. If this 
is the case, we want to consider whether support can be provided through an equity 
loan for up sizing. It would work in the same way as the Low-Cost Home Ownership 
equity loan and would be available on new and existing homes. 
 
Where households own their own property and need to have extensive adaptations 
undertaken to support specialist housing requirements of family members, the 

Page 44



 

Council can provide a Disabled Facilities Grant; the maximum grant is £36,000. 
There are occasions where there remains a shortfall and we will be exploring the 
potential of offering an equity loan to bridge this gap. It may also be applied where 
households live in homes that are unsuitable for adaptations and a move to a new 
home is required but unaffordable. 
 
Recently, the Right to Buy opportunity for social tenants was removed in Wales and 
we will try and support tenants who want to buy a home to do so through these 
homeownership solutions. 
 

Support for People Who Rent a Home in the Private Rented Sector 
 
The Private Rented Sector accounts for around 12% of all homes across Caerphilly. 
It is a housing option on which many households are now dependent, and our 
evidence confirms that it is a natural progression for many newly forming 
households. Our evidence shows rent levels are increasing, an outcome of a popular 
market with a shortage of property. 
 
We want to ensure that this sector provides the best possible properties and 
management services that it can, and our evidence suggests that there is room for 
improvement. We know the sector is dominated by older terraced housing, often in 
need of investment, many with low rent levels and there are around 200 Houses in 
Multiple Occupation, often of low quality but not requiring a license. When we get 
complaints, they tend to be about tenancy management, which suggests that 
landlords may need some further support. 
 
We want to improve the offer that is available in Caerphilly and so we will: 
 

 continue to be a partner in Rent Smart Wales, a national organisation that assists 
those who let or manage rental properties to comply with the Housing (Wales) 
Act 2014 obligations and provides advice and relevant training on renting safe 
and healthy homes. Over 90% of rented properties in the borough are now 
registered. 

 increase our knowledge of who is living in the Private Rented Sector through 
primary research as part of our revised Local Housing Market Assessment and 
tailor our approach to intervention based on what residents living in it, or plan to 
live in it, tell us. 

 Maximise the take up of funding to support home improvements for tenants 
through government schemes or Rent Smart Wales. 

 continue to grow membership of our Landlord Forum. Whilst we want to positively 
work with landlords, where we need to, we will use our enforcement powers to 
improve the sector. 

 develop a section of the Caerphilly website that provides advice and support for 
tenants. This would include advice on finding a property, standard contracts, 
claiming benefit, rights and responsibilities, how to complain, Rent Smart Wales, 
adaptations and energy efficiency etc. 

 explore the potential of creating a new build offer, potentially focused on our town 
centres but also as part of the offer in other locations. We will research 
opportunities, potential demand and the type of property that should be provided 

Page 45



 

and the levels of rent that would provide housing options for key workers. We will 
work with developers and social landlords to deliver on this offer and the Council 
may also be involved in its delivery. 

 

Support for People Who Live in Social Housing 
 
Around 20% of people in Caerphilly live in social housing. The largest landlord is the 
Council but homes are also provided by Linc Cymru, Pobl Group, United Welsh and 
Wales & West housing associations.  
 
Our evidence and the Welsh Government Household projections tell us that we need 
to increase the supply of affordable homes and in particular provide more smaller (1 
bed) and larger (4 bed) homes but requirements are different across Caerphilly and 
future provision will take this into account. Our updated evidence base will consider 
the needs of people who are on our waiting list as well as feedback from primary 
research, so that we can get an accurate understanding of future need and current 
provision. 
 
Whilst we have fewer smaller and larger social homes, the council has too many 3 
bed homes an over provision of 3 bed homes in some locations and we are 
considering different options to undertake extensions and loft conversions to 
increase the number of bedrooms and convert some homes into smaller flats. We 
will explore options of selling surplus stock to first time buyers or growing households 
and using the receipt to replace with smaller and larger new homes. As part of 
improving how we best use our stock, we have developed a detailed understanding 
of the accessibility of Council owned homes and have established a central 
repository that updates stock and medical categories for all social housing allowing 
our Housing Solutions Team to better match tenants needs with properties. We will 
be working with social landlord partners to do the same. 
 
Through the Memorandum of Understanding with social landlords, we will challenge 
all social housing providers, including the Council, to work toward consistent 
standards of management that ‘raise the bar’ and our offer for tenants living in social 
housing. We want the service across Caerphilly to be at the forefront of good 
practice, building on the tenancy support already offered to reduce the need for 
enforcement. We want to look at how we can measure the health of our 
communities, support resilient communities and promote the positive outcomes set 
out in the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act. We will be developing shared 
performance indicators to monitor our impact and success. 
 
The Council will revolutionise its services through digital technology and investment 
that provide improved customer focus and enable people centred services. We will 
be utilising data and information about tenants to support predictive analytics as a 
means of identifying forthcoming need and tailoring services. We will take services 
into communities through customer hubs and agile working and create more 
opportunities for tenants and leaseholders to engage through internet-based 
opportunities, to manage their accounts and order repairs. Customers will be able to 
have multiple queries dealt with in a single interaction and front-line staff will have 
the tools and information they need to operate across departmental boundaries. 
  

Page 46



 

Delivering a Better Offer in Later Life 
 
Our population is ageing. In 2033, 23.5% of the population will be in the 65 and over 
age group, an increase from 19.3% in 20181. Where and how older people live 
depends on their individual needs, taste, lifestyle and financial circumstances, much 
the same as any other age group. The majority of older people will remain living in 
their current home as they age but others will want to or will need to move. There will 
be older people who live independently all of their lives, whilst some people will need 
specialist care and support. 
 
We value people in later life, want to promote equality between generations, so that 
residents are able to contribute to and benefit from sustained prosperity and enjoy a 
good quality of life. 
 
Our evidence tells us that the majority of older people, want to remain living in their 
own homes, whilst others want to move. The ageing population will necessitate a 
renewed emphasis on ensuring that support is available to enable people to remain 
living in their own homes but for those that do want to move, a diverse range of 
housing is available. 
 
This will require new homes to be built as Lifetime homes and designed with 
potential care needs and accessibility in mind. There is also a need to have much 
better options for those who would like to move to a home of a more appropriate 
size, in a location that enables them to easily access local services and facilities. 
Working with partners, we will introduce a ‘road map’ that sets out how we will 
design and develop a housing offer for older people. It will be based on engagement 
with older people and recognise that whilst new housing options are required, the 
majority of older people want to and will age in their current home. We will: 
 

 compare how the current offer meets what older people tell us they want and 
where the gaps in provision are. 

 set out a framework of investment and partnerships for meeting those gaps and 
in particular the role of social landlords through the Memorandum of 
Understanding. 

 establish the types of support services required such as support for rightsizing. 

 explore the options to expand the services of the Home Improvement Agency 
(HIA) to maintain independent living for longer. 

 consider whether the 2nd replacement LDP should have formal requirements for 
older person provision, linked to site thresholds. 

 build on the growth of digital technologies introduced during the Covid-19 
pandemic, for example remote care concepts have been implemented much 
more widely and there been a major surge in the digital take up of older people. 
This can help support engagement, improve inclusion and reduce isolation. 

 remodel, redesignate and redevelop the Council’s sheltered accommodation in 
response to changing needs and aspirations of older tenants and secure the 
future of these assets. 

                                                           
1 Source: Stats Wales 2018-based population projections 

 

Page 47



 

Creating Great Places to Live 
 

Supporting Equality, Investment & Opportunity 
 
Our commitment to a County Borough wide Wellbeing and Place Shaping 
Framework will see us encourage, facilitate and support investment that make ‘great 
places to live’. We want places to be inspired by the people who live there, promote 
sociability, have great schools and access to great health care. Places should have 
good and sustainable transport system so that people can access quality jobs and 
training, a retail and leisure offer and good quality housing. We know that not all 
places are created equal and that we have locations with long term structural socio-
economic problems where targeted investment will make significant changes, often 
beyond the investment itself, creating support for local business and creating local 
employment. 
 
We have set out a vision and opportunity to address these challenges through a 
strategically coordinated approach set out in our ’Regeneration Strategy-a 
foundation for Success’2. Here, we are linking investment decisions with targeted 
outcomes and maximising the potential of the Cardiff Capital Region with the 
investment of City Deal, the Valleys Taskforce and further funding streams. An 
unwavering approach to tackle some of the most deep-seated issues that the County 
Borough is facing, sets out improvements to transport connectivity, increasing, still 
further, people’s skill levels, supporting people into work and giving businesses the 
support, they need to innovate and grow. A key element in the proposals is the 
Metro, a new transport system for the region that will provide faster, more frequent 
and joined up services using trains, buses and rail, connecting people, places and 
jobs. 
 
We want to align this Strategy with the priorities of the Regeneration Strategy, to 
close the gap between the North and South of the County Borough. Underpinning 
this will be the housing offer; a residential offer that supports a more prosperous, 
healthier, resilient and equal Caerphilly. Getting the housing offer right in terms of 
type, size, tenure and price and in communities that are sustainable in terms of 
popularity, crime, environment and access to services is essential. The 
interdependence of the regeneration and housing strategies is critical. A key 
outcome of both is to raise income levels to afford better homes and services. 
 
Achieving this involves assisting existing residents in accessing better paid 
employment, encouraging young professionals/managers and families to remain in 
the area and attracting more residents to move into the area.  This is a significant 
challenge for us and one that we understand can only be delivered through 
partnership with other stakeholders and we will be working closely with social 
landlords to establish how we maximise the impact of housing led regeneration in 
terms of both new homes and support for the foundational economy. 
  

                                                           
2 https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/RegenerationStrategy 

Page 48



 

The Imbalance of Our Housing Markets 
 
At the moment, there are significant variations across the County Borough. The 
choice of housing in the Heads of Valley is particularly limited and, in some villages, 
up to 90% of housing is pre-1914 terraced housing which is generally poorer quality 
with challenges for achieving modern energy standards and often not adaptable to 
modern family living. The majority of homes have 3 bedrooms, with limited choices of 
smaller and larger accommodation. Whilst prices are generally more affordable, this 
can impact on the viability of new housing schemes and so there are fewer new 
homes built, reducing choice further. That said, our evidence suggests that people 
will move here for the right property and we believe that the Covid-19 pandemic may 
offer a platform for demand in the north as more people choose to live in more rural 
settings and work from home. 
 
The Northern Connections Corridor (NCC) has been successful in attracting 
substantial public and private investment, transforming this part of the County 
Borough and bringing new housing development and jobs. This has led to an 
increased diversity in the housing stock in terms of the type of homes available but 
there is a need to identify more land to build more homes. A lack of supply of new 
homes alongside the popularity of the area means that prices have been pushed 
upwards and homes are unaffordable to buy or rent for many people. This situation 
may worsen further as the Principal Town of Ystrad Mynach is a significant 
employment centre and has been identified along with Caerphilly as a Strategic Hub 
by the Ministerial Taskforce for the South Wales Valleys, Our Valleys, Our Future; 
and this is likely to create additional demand for new homes. 
 
The Caerphilly Basin is the highest value market in the County Borough with strong 
links to the Cardiff housing market. The Caerphilly Basin has been a focus for 
housing development and has a better diversity of housing stock than other 
locations. As with the Northern Connection Corridors, rising demand and prices has 
impacted negatively on affordability but this area is more affordable than Cardiff and 
attracts residents unable to afford prices in the capital. Widening the choice of 
homes for rent and sale could attract further households. 
 
Lower Islwyn market area is included as part of the Southern Connections Corridor 
in the Local Development Plan strategy, alongside Caerphilly Basin. However, in 
housing market terms the two areas are distinct housing markets with Lower Islwyn 
relating well to the Newport housing market rather than Cardiff and with private rent 
levels close to the northern corridors than the higher levels in Caerphilly. 
This imbalance in our markets is limiting choice for people to put down roots in 
Caerphilly. The latest 2018-based population projections show that the County 
Borough is losing younger age groups and retaining and attracting these households 
with an economic and housing offer is a priority. The same data also confirms the 
growth of older households and creating an offer for housing in later life is just as 
important. 
 

Rebalancing Our Housing Markets 
 
There are 5 masterplans that set out the spatial investment framework to achieve the 
positive outcomes set out in the Regeneration Strategy. These are in Caerphilly 

Page 49



 

Basin, Ystrad Mynach Heads of the Valleys, Greater Blackwood and the Newbridge 
to Risca Corridor. Housing led regeneration will play a significant role in delivering 
many of these outcomes. 
 
As the evidence base is updated, housing priorities will be developed that provide 
detailed housing requirements in communities where we know there are gaps in 
supply through co-production to reflect the ambitions of local people. 
 
We will develop detailed guidance for investors in our market and promote them 
through our developer hub that will set out: 
 

 the current and (2) future target mix of type, size, tenure and affordability of 
homes relative to local incomes. 

 the number of new homes of each type, size, tenure and affordability (income) 
required in order to move from the current to the new position; and 

 explain how this mix of new homes, the people who live in them and any other 
local development and infrastructure will create a better balance for the 
market. 

 

Repurposing Town Centres 
 
Like most Welsh towns, those across Caerphilly are witnessing unparalleled change 
in consumer habits. Town centres must evolve and the Covid-19 pandemic legacy is 
likely to accelerate that evolution. Catering for ‘live-work-play’ alongside technology-
enabled shopping perhaps sums up the diversified role that centres require to 
survive. Day, evening, and night-time economies will become more common place 
as people work ever more flexibly and our recovery out of the Covid-19 pandemic 
will prioritise our town centre first approach. 
 
In recent years there has been significant investment in Ystrad Mynach, Blackwood, 
Risca, Caerphilly and Bargoed, however continued investment by both the private 
and public sector is necessary if town centre businesses are to succeed and flourish. 
Town Centre Action plans are being produced to coordinate major development 
opportunities to diversify the existing offer within Town Centres and retain more 
expenditure within the local economy. Caerphilly has been awarded £700k targeted 
regeneration investment funding from Welsh Government and will invest in projects 
in town centres that promote economic regeneration and create the right 
environment for businesses to grow and thrive. 
 
An important outcome will be creating town centres that are attractive places to live. 
During the lifetime of this Strategy, we will introduce more opportunities to live in 
town centres, above shops and promote mixed use development and will explore 
demand through the Local Housing Market Assessment. New homes in town centres 
will serve to address a number of key objectives such as addressing the acute 
shortage of homes; diversify the housing offer, increasing expenditure in local 
retailing and adding life in the evenings/ weekends. Where investors in our town 
centres need our support to maintain thriving centres, we will work to achieve this. 
 
  

Page 50



 

Supporting Good Quality Places and Design 
 
Placemaking and sustainable development will be a major consideration in the 
selection of sites for inclusion in the 2nd Replacement LDP. 
 
Supporting good quality places and design creates places where people want to live 
and so we will work with local communities to develop a ‘Caerphilly checklist’ and we 
will use it throughout our planning and place-shaping activity to make sure we 
consider all the important elements in how to develop good quality places. Such a 
checklist might include: 
 

 infrastructure – including GPs, schools, road traffic: How are the infrastructure 
requirements of the new development being considered?  

 parks and green spaces: How will the development minimise the impact on our 
green spaces and/or create new parks and green spaces? 

 transport, active travel, air pollution: How does the new development enable 
people to get around in a way that limits air pollution?   

 Decarbonisation-how will the development promote this agenda, does it support 
car free living, provide car charging points. 

 connected, healthy people: How will the development produce spaces where 
people like to meet and congregate?  

 asset-based approach: Are we building on local community assets and creating 
resilient communities based on their strengths and local assets? 

 healthy living: How might the new environment support people to become more 
active? The quality of local food shops?  

 access to healthcare and schools: How will the people living there access 
healthcare in their community? How will their children be enrolled in schools?  

 
Meeting Zero carbon targets, promoting innovation and exemplary design 
The Council has formally declared a climate emergency as a Notice of Motion and as 
a result of this has committed to being net carbon neutral in its operation by 2030. 
We will develop a policy framework within the 2nd Replacement Local Development 
Plan that presumes in favour of carbon friendly construction and where we build new 
homes, will use carbon friendly construction methods which result in a reduction in 
energy consumption in all new housing developments. We will use, innovative 
housing techniques such as modular build and passivhaus which will utilise eco-
friendly material to create highly efficient homes. 
 
In addition to improving the speed and efficiency of the housebuilding process, there 
are many potential environmental benefits associated with the construction of new 
homes in a factory setting as opposed to directly on-site. These include a reduction 
in road traffic movements from construction vehicles, leading to both congestion and 
pollution benefits; reductions in energy usage, both during the construction and 
occupation of homes; and significant reductions in waste materials. All new homes 
will achieve a minimum EPC band A rating and energy efficient glazing and 
insulation that minimise heat loss, introduce efficient internal heating systems and 
reduce overall levels of carbon.   
 

Page 51



 

The Memorandum of Understanding with social landlords and the Council’s 
participation in an all Wales Council House Development Forum includes 
commitments to work collaboratively and share knowledge and resources to work 
towards delivering more energy efficient housing. During the lifetime of the strategy 
further opportunities will be explored to develop local modular off site construction 
opportunities to help develop at scale and pace, reduce energy consumption and 
options that create heat and power by using photovoltaics, ground source and air 
source energy and heating. 
 
As well as delivering increased energy efficiency, innovation in design and 
construction also creates better quality housing. We are collectively exploring the 
use of Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) in which homes are built off site, 
precision manufactured and built with high levels of quality control.   
The Council will ensure that the necessary smart infrastructure is introduced within 
homes to future proof them so they can take full advantage of emerging SMART 
technologies. 
 
Guidance on housing design is set out in Supplementary Planning Guidance and 
Welsh Government’s Beautiful Homes and Spaces (2020): 
LDP6 - Building Better Places to Live  
LDP7 - Householder Developments (PDF 898kb) 
 
In addition, our Highways service has prepared the Highways design guide that sets 
out standards for road design in developments. 
  

Page 52

about:blank
about:blank


 

Creating Healthy Homes and Vibrant Communities 
 
The impact of a safe, warm and secure home is remarkable to health and wellbeing.  
It improves general health outcomes and enables people to maintain independence; 
it is the platform on which people can build their future. It can prevent physical and 
mental ill health and reduce hospital admissions; it can support us to get better more 
quickly and enable timely discharge from hospital. Good health is an asset that the 
Council will support and build on and good quality homes and communities will help 
to achieve it. 
 
Unfortunately, not everyone has the same opportunities for good health. Those who 
are elderly or young, isolated, without a support network, and adults with disabilities 
are more likely to be affected. Investing in housing, particularly for vulnerable people, 
can support better health and reduce costs of other public services. We want to 
focus on collaborative opportunities that can help create healthy homes and 
communities. 
 

Our commitment to Caerphilly Cares 
 
Through the Wellbeing Plan, Caerphilly Public Services Board is committed to 
improving the well-being of all residents living in the County Borough. The Public 
Services Board recognises that currently, most services are delivered when 
residents are in need; at a crisis point. We need to shift this position to become more 
preventative in nature, so that problems are identified and addressed before 
individuals require intervention. Our commitment to Caerphilly Cares will do just that. 
The proposed Caerphilly Cares model is designed to build confidence and connect 
communities, improve resilience, wellbeing and reduce inequalities. It will help target 
resources and support, through people and community centred solutions, promoting 
independence and increasing people’s control over their own lives. It is about 
mobilising assets within communities such as skills, knowledge and social networks 
so that individuals who share similar life experiences can support one another to 
create positive lasting change. 
 
The long-term vision is for a much larger range of services to work collaboratively 
‘under the umbrella’ of Caerphilly Cares to support early intervention and prevention, 
to meet the needs of all residents and support the most vulnerable. A single point of 
contact and streamlining responses though a universal gateway (a front door to 
services via a central coordination and response team) and triage service (a 
diagnostic service) underpins the offer. 
 
Alongside social landlords, the Council will promote, participate, support and 
signpost residents through our day-to-day contact encompassing the Caerphilly 
Cares model into ‘business as usual’. We will set out a ‘programme of contact’, 
identifying where and how we can engage residents and tenants into Caerphilly 
Cares; this may be when we provide advice and support for tenants in debt, when 
we visit a tenant in the private rented sector who has complained about the quality of 
their home or when we visit an owner who requires an adaptation to their home. We 
will make our contact with resident’s count. 
 
 

Page 53



 

 

Promoting Good Health Through Advice and Support 
 
Alongside social landlords, The Council will better coordinate and integrate our 
current prevention services. Integrated prevention focuses not only on (individual) 
lifestyle factors, but also on the physical living environment and social problems, 
such as debt and stress. We and our social landlord partners will continue to deliver 
our programmes of support to tenants to create stronger relationships with 
communities, to build resilience. Our focus will be to build on the collaborative and 
partnership working to deliver excellent community management and maintenance 
through the Covid-19 pandemic to: 
 

 support income maximisation, provide debt management support and budgeting 
advice 

 maximise community groups to access community grant funding schemes. 

 develop employment referral pathways, to offer customers training, qualifications 
and employability support  

 align social landlord wellbeing calls and the Council’s buddy scheme, sharing 
information and connecting people with longer term support through the 
community. 

 Identify where sharing resources adds value to people lives. 
 

Driving Up Quality in The Private Sector 
 
Tackling the determinants of poor health and wellbeing by improving housing 
conditions in the private sector is an objective in the Corporate Plan. Improving the 
quality of housing will reduce pressures on other public services, notably health and 
social care. For example, there is significant evidence showing links between cold, 
damp homes and respiratory disease and asthma. 
 
This can be a particularly challenging agenda, Private Sector Housing accounts for 
about 80% of households in Caerphilly and the Council has a finite resource yet the 
outcomes can be significant.  Private sector housing investment can make an 
important contribution to improving housing conditions, increasing independence, 
preventing homelessness, tackling fuel poverty, increasing housing supply, widening 
choice and creating sustainable communities. 
 
Over the next 2-3 years, our Private Sector Housing interventions will grow, 
supported through interdepartmental working and an invest to save ethos.  We will 
be establishing a cross specialism working group, with the specific tasks of creating 
housing led invest to save opportunities through jointly funding pilot initiatives that 
will tackle housing conditions and poor landlord practices to support better outcomes 
for people. 
 
The work will build on our current investment that supports people living in the 
private sector to pay for improvements and adaptations to their homes. We offer a 
range of interest free loans and grants to make homes safe, warm and secure. We 
will continue our partnership with Care & Repair enabling vulnerable households to 

Page 54



 

receive additional assistance via a range of initiatives including the Rapid Response 
Adaptations Programme and Independent Living Grant. 
 

Supporting Energy Efficiency & Affordable Warmth 
 
Earlier in our Local Housing Strategy we set out our commitment to being net carbon 
neutral by 2030 and the Decarbonisation Strategy for the County Borough sets out 
our priorities and plans.  This has significant implications for the existing homes in 
Caerphilly. 
 
The challenge for the Council is to ensure that existing homes can meet the 
ambitions of the decarbonisation strategy. Whilst it’s possible to build a new home 
that is carbon neutral or carbon zero (where the house produces as much (or more) 
energy than it uses), it is far more difficult and expensive to do this on existing 
homes. Decarbonisation is the right thing to do. Low carbon and carbon zero retrofits 
focus on remodelling older homes to increase energy efficiency while producing 
renewable energy on-site to approach carbon neutrality. Alongside the benefits to 
climate change, this investment helps people heat homes more cheaply, eradicating 
fuel poverty and that directly helps support our physical – respiratory, rheumatic – 
and mental health – anxiety and depression. It promotes health and wellbeing. 
 
We are maximising available funding from government and energy suppliers to 
undertake energy saving measures in both the private and public sector. We will 
provide advice to people about energy saving measures and help people to help 
themselves. This will work through the One Stop Shop public service offer which will 
take advice into the heart of communities and will sign-post residents to appropriate 
grant agencies to maximise take up. For example, we are promoting ECO, a 
government led energy efficiency initiative to help reduce carbon and tackle fuel 
poverty for the most vulnerable residents of the Caerphilly County Borough. 
 
In Council owned homes, we are committed to delivering fabric first improvements 
considering a whole house retrofit approach where possible to reduce energy 
consumption and deliver cost savings for tenants. Building on the £261m spent to 
meet Welsh Housing Quality Standard, we anticipate investing a further £139m in 
Council homes, over the next 5 years, to maintain the housing stock, incorporating 
the decarbonisation agenda and maximising grant income. 
 
With social landlords we will support tenants to improve the financial efficiency of 
heating their homes offering advice with a view to reduce household expenditure.   
 

A Caerphilly Home & Neighbourhood Health Index 
 
The design of a home and community is a key contributor to the health and wellbeing 
of the people who live there. This includes factors such as daylight, temperature, air 
quality, internal layout and a wide range of neighbourhood factors such as the 
natural environment, amenities and public transport. Our requirement to build new 
homes provides both a challenge and an opportunity to ensure that we optimise 
health and wellbeing, as well as respond to the need for housing. We believe both 
quantity and quality are achievable. 

Page 55



 

 
Where the Council builds, we will take into account how new homes will support 
good health as well as creating great places and will encourage developers and 
social landlords to do the same. This will consider: 
 

 the level of natural light. 

 the size of homes (in terms of overall floor space not just rooms) and how layout 
supports social interaction. 

 how standards of insulation impact on wellbeing and affordable warmth. 

 how new developments support place and community. 

 The level of sound and noise insulation to promote positive health and well-being. 

 access to amenities. 
 
For existing communities, we plan to introduce a healthy community sustainability 
index that supports the resilience agenda of Caerphilly Cares. This will be a checklist 
by which communities can be measured and improvement plans considered. They 
will consider walkability, access to green space and amenities, access to healthy 
shops etc. We will work with our social landlord partners through the Memorandum 
of Understanding to develop and implement this. 
 

Our Approach to Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Anti-Social behaviour can have a devastating impact on people's lives, leaving them 
feeling helpless, desperate and hugely impact on their health and well-being. We 
understand these challenges and reflecting the increasing reporting and complexity 
of anti-social behaviour nationally and in Caerphilly, we have increased our 
resources to deal with it. 
 
We are committed to working with other statutory and voluntary agencies to agree 
effective measures to prevent anti-social behaviour from occurring within our 
communities: to support vulnerable residents, to take firm and prompt action when 
anti-social behaviour occurs and when we can, rehabilitate perpetrators back within 
our communities. 
  

Page 56



 

Delivering New Homes 
 
We need to deliver more homes for people in Caerphilly so that both Caerphilly 
residents and newcomers can find a suitable, desirable home that they can afford. 
New homes will be delivered throughout communities, bringing an improved housing 
offer for everybody. 
 
This can be difficult because there are challenges in our housing market such as 
poor ground conditions, areas with low sales values and natural factors such as 
topography and flood risk which means that some sites are harder to develop than 
others. We need to culturally redefine our mindset so that we find solutions, develop 
new models and deal with these challenges. We need to be more flexible in the 
interpretation of our policies, demonstrate consistency across our departments and 
promote a culture in favour of development that demonstrates that Caerphilly is 
‘open for business’. 
 

Developing a 2nd Replacement Local Development Plan 
 
The supporting policy infrastructure, to enable more development to come froward, is 
the Local Development Plan (LDP) and by the end of 2024 we will have developed a 
2nd Replacement Local Development Plan3. This will comprehensively set out the 
housing priorities across Caerphilly both in terms of numbers and spatial priorities 
and the supporting infrastructure that will be required including community facilities. 
The timing for the replacement LDP is set to work with the development of the 
National Development Framework (NDF)4, the 20-year land use framework for Wales 
which the 2nd Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) will need to align with 
and respond to. 
 
We will use the process of developing the 2nd Replacement LDP as an opportunity to 
work alongside social landlords and developers to identify new locations for housing, 
models for delivery and opportunities for funding. Our Local Housing Market 
Assessment will include information on the housing circumstances and aspirations of 
local people, which will help to inform future priorities. 
 
As part of the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR), a Strategic Development Plan (SDP) will 
be prepared which joins up strategic planning for the region to provide an enabling 
tool for economic growth. A statutory SDP will provide certainty to developers, 
investors and communities that key strategic decisions around housing, transport, 
employment and infrastructure provision are being taken at a regional level, whilst 
still allowing key decisions on planning proposals to be taken locally. 
 
In the period up to the adoption of the 2nd Replacement LDP, the Council will 
continue to address the shortfall in housing delivery through proactive action, 
including: 
 

                                                           
3 The current adopted LDP will remain the development plan for the determining planning applications until it 

is replaced. 

4  https://gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040 

Page 57

about:blank


 

 working in partnership with social landlords and developers to bring sites forward 
for development. 

 considering proposals for new residential development on a site-by-site basis and 
having due regard for the need to increase the delivery of housing; 

 working with Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) Deal to 
bid for funding for the redevelopment of sites with high infrastructure and/or 
remediation costs for housing; 

 utilising a lease-based funding model to bring forward Council owned sites with 
viability issues; 

 the identification of schemes where funding opportunities could be exploited to 
deliver regeneration projects, including for housing and employment; 

 supporting the development of new build council housing on appropriate sites; 
 

Promoting that we are Open for Business 
 
The Council has set up a Housing Stakeholder Group comprising representatives of 
the development industry and social landlords. The group is set up to ensure that 
housing completion figures are recorded correctly and to consider the timing and 
phasing of allocated LDP sites and sites with planning permission. The Group will 
also be involved in the preparation of a Housing Trajectory as an integral part of the 
2nd Replacement LDP. We will be using the group to help us to develop an online 
resource for developers and social landlords to enable a better understanding of the 
housing development process and a more expedient way through. It will include the 
evidence of need, planning policies, delivery mechanisms, funding, land 
opportunities and key contacts at the Council. 
 

Identifying & Bringing New Sites Forward 
 
We are committed to identifying and being more pro-active to bring sites forward for 
housing delivery. We will support sustainable development, retaining a brownfield 
first approach. Our priority will be to identify new sites where local people want to live 
and we will test whether the Covid-19 pandemic has influenced where people want 
to see new homes built.  These sites will be included within the 2nd replacement LDP. 
 
We will be undertaking a review of all Council owned or controlled land and estate, 
as part of the Team Caerphilly Strategy corporate review. This will significantly 
reduce the number of public facing assets it owns and by co-locating services with 
other public bodies, we can re-use those assets for housing.  
 
We will work with landowners to identify potential land; but this will be more creative 
than a simple ‘call for sites.’ We will create sites, through purchase and demolition, 
employing Compulsory Purchase Orders where ownership of land is hampering 
growth. We will utilise the Governments Strategic Sites Acquisition Fund5 and 
redesignate land use from employment to housing in town centres; through Council 
upfront investment, we can drive out value through development opportunities. 
  

                                                           
5 Covid Reconstruction – Challenges and Priorities 

Page 58



 

Delivering More Affordable Housing 
 
The delivery of modern, good quality truly affordable homes, for rent and sale, 
across the whole of the County Borough, will improve quality of life and create 
stronger and more cohesive communities. The barriers to delivering affordable 
housing mirror those of delivering market housing and we will explore all 
opportunities to increase the supply of affordable homes, maximising all available 
funding and explore different approaches such as utilising capital receipts from  land 
sales to subsidise more difficult and lower value sites. 
 
Our approach is driven by the recommendations of ‘The independent Review of 
Affordable Housing Report’6 that provided new opportunities to increase the supply 
and quality of affordable housing and enable local authorities to build. Our social 
landlord partners bring forward new opportunities to deliver affordable housing; their 
ambitions for growth are set out in their development strategies and we need to work 
more closely to support them to achieve their ambitions. We will be seeking to 
maximise funding for affordable housing and seek longer term certainty of funding to 
enable better forward planning. 
 
The updated Local Housing Market Assessment will set out need, demand and 
aspirations and from this we will develop a revised prospectus for affordable 
housing, with social landlords, to support delivery and planning negotiations. It will 
set out evidence for both affordable rent and sale requirements and establish what is 
‘truly affordable’ for local people. We know that there are some locations where there 
is a significant amount of affordable housing already such as in the Upper Rhymney 
Valleys and other locations where we would want to see increased provision such as 
the Northern Connections Corridor area and in the Caerphilly Basin area. The 
updated evidence base will review the affordable housing requirements based on 
both viability and current provision to help to achieve this. 
 
Social landlords in Caerphilly have an excellent track record in delivering affordable 
housing for rent and sale.  In driving forward this agenda, we want to strengthen our 
offer to social landlords to find solutions to deliver even more affordable housing. 
The Council has developed a Memorandum of Understanding with Linc Cymru, Pobl 
Group, United Welsh and Wales & West Housing Associations that secures closer 
partnering arrangements and sets out our shared commitment to work 
collaboratively. We see this as ‘resetting our relationship’ with social landlords, that 
will go beyond providing new homes and deliver wider benefits for social tenants in 
how homes are managed and the quality of service offered. 
 
Caerphilly Homes is embarking on an ambitious new Council home building 
programme which will increase the number of homes that we own. We are 
developing a five-year development strategy that details our plans to build and 
acquire a new generation of homes that meet a growing local need for new social 
and affordable housing. The Caerphilly Homes Building Together programme 
commits to delivering 400 new affordable homes over the lifetime of this strategy. 
We are adopting a range of models that will see us deliver directly on Council owned 
land, acquire sites from the open market, acquire homes via s106 development, buy 

                                                           
6 https://gov.wales/independent-review-affordable-housing-supply-report 

Page 59



 

homes on the existing market and buy empty homes.  We also want to collaborate 
with our housing association partners to identify shared opportunities for developing 
new homes. 
 

The Council as Investor & Partner in Housing Delivery 
 
We are serious about accelerating housing growth. During the lifetime of our Local 
Housing Strategy, we will be testing new tools in partnership with developers and 
social landlords that will speed up delivery of the type of housing that Caerphilly 
County Borough needs. 
 
A significant change will be our role as investor in the housing market. We are 
already committed to building new affordable homes and will develop models that 
will see us invest in market housing. We are currently piloting a lease model as an 
alternative form of housing delivery which enables both the Council and developer, 
to bring challenging sites forward and share risk and profit. Working on a deferred 
capital receipt approach, the model delivers s106 affordable homes in line with policy 
requirements and other models with similar outcomes will be explored. 
 
The Council has been successful in accessing funding to unlock strategic sites. This 
often focuses on larger sites and the council wants to explore how it may use 
alternative funding such as commuted sums to secure its wider objectives of 
delivering more affordable homes, helping people to access affordable home 
ownership and supporting people to access specialist and supported housing. Over 
the lifetime of this strategy, the Council will undertake an options appraisal of how it 
may utilise different council sources of funding to invest in housing and secure a 
return that will support reinvestment, creating a revolving fund overtime. 
 

New Models of Delivery 
 
Community led housing is very much supported in the County Borough and can offer 
a wide range of benefits in terms of affordability, quality and density, community 
engagement and training opportunities. We recognise the benefits of the custom and 
self-build sector in diversifying the housing stock and will identify a list of small sites 
that would be suitable for this use, which will help facilitate local people building their 
own homes within their communities. 
 

Bringing Empty Homes Back into Use 
 
We will be bringing empty homes back into use to increase the supply of housing 
and extend choice, improve housing conditions and meet housing need. We are 
piloting a dedicated empty homes team underpinned by a new Empty Homes 
Strategy and Action Plan that will focus on new tools to bring empty homes back into 
use. We have over £2m available for loans to support owners to bring empty homes 
back into use. We will explore a range of alternative models such as lease and 
repair, repair and sale models and a web-based presence will be developed to 
provide advice and support to owners and landlords. 
 

Page 60



 

The Council has begun a programme of identifying former Council owned properties 
which were sold under the right to buy process and acquiring them utilising 
government grant, to bring them back into use as social housing, helping the Council 
to meet housing need. 
 

Creating New Jobs & Economic Opportunity 
 
We have a successful track record in delivering training and employment through the 
construction sector and this Strategy will capitalise on those opportunities. We want 
to support local businesses, create local jobs and ensure that we maximise our 
‘Caerphilly pound’. 
 
The Cardiff Capital Region partnership will further promote this agenda.  It will 
engage the affordable housing providers in the region, as one network, that will 
develop a regional “Housing Plus” strategy in which added value benefits such as 
training, construction, apprenticeships, energy resilience and job creation are clearly 
set out and adopted. 
  

Page 61



 

Supporting Specialist Housing Needs 
 
The outcome of our Local Housing Strategy is to provide a better housing offer in 
Caerphilly, but our focus is about people. Whether we are building new affordable 
homes, creating options for first time buyers or developing move on accommodation 
for people leaving care, we are always looking to provide people centred solutions 
that improve people’s lives, develop innovative approaches, and live up to our values 
of ‘doing things differently’. 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has proved itself to be a societal disruption unprecedented 
in modern times. The public health response has not only encompassed specific 
measures for the physical protection of the population from the virus but increasingly 
has focused on supporting and protecting the mental health of the population; it is 
evident that the impact of the pandemic and subsequent response has been 
experienced very differently by different groups in society and has exacerbated pre-
existing inequalities. Our Strategy will respond as the longer term legacy of Covid-19 
becomes clearer but we know it has led to an increased number of people who are 
sleeping rough and people requiring temporary accommodation; this has significantly 
increased the pressure to find suitable accommodation. 
 
Caerphilly has good quality supported accommodation units and through this 
Strategy we will take action to ensure that we can support those with more complex 
needs, providing both the right support and accommodation pathways. Our priority is 
to promote sustainable communities and tenancies and our primary focus is to 
ensure we have the correct supporting people services available to enable people to 
either live independently within their homes or where this is not possible, in 
supported accommodation that is ‘inclusive for all’ and meets their primary support 
need; and when people are ready to move on, they will be supported to successfully 
achieve this. 
 
In developing solutions, we want to: 
 

 provide the right support, for the right person, at the right time and reduce the use 
of residential care and inappropriate admissions to hospital. People want and 
deserve their own front door and we will promote accessibility in all new build 
homes. 

 work closely with our partners to support people to remain living in Caerphilly 

 ensure that people live independently in their home and interdependently within 
their neighbourhoods. 

 create choices about where people want to live, how they live and whether they 
rent or own their property. 

 
We know the amazing role that many family carers offer, and we are planning to 
increase the availability of respite care for family-based carers by offering more day 
support placements through the development of a new purpose-built Respite Centre 
facility at Pontllanfraith with the potential to deliver respite services from a single 
location for the whole of the County Borough. 
 
  

Page 62



 

Develop a Specialist Accommodation Prospectus 
 
A full needs assessment will be undertaken to develop a baseline position for 
individuals requiring specialist accommodation.  
The evidence base will involve stakeholders including service providers, service 
users and officers to set out the aspiration and vision for accommodation, models of 
support and tenures and location. This will then be formalised into a specialist 
accommodation prospectus that focuses on: 
 

 maximising the number of people with a specialist need living in their own home 
with whom they choose to live with, and 

 expanding the range and choice of housing, care and support services providing 
more choice and control over their lives. 

 setting out the partners that need to engage with this agenda and plan to achieve 
this such as housing Support Services and Private Landlords. 

 
The prospectus will be used to engage with the market and commission new 
accommodation.  
 

Accommodation Review 

 
The evidence base of need will enable us to undertake an accommodation 
assessment review approached from an ‘invest to save’ model to define the most 
appropriate use of our existing accommodation. Options may include remodelling 
and decommissioning, and new schemes may be commissioned. 
 
An Accommodation Options Group will be established to create individual pathways 
for people that require specialist accommodation. For example, it will work alongside 
looked after children from an earlier age, planning and commissioning 
accommodation. By referring earlier in the process, properties can be found for 
individuals or potentially delivered through the planning system. This may also be 
through Caerphilly Keys, with appropriate tenancy support. 
 

Develop a Longer-Term Delivery Strategy 

 
We will work with social landlords and market providers to strengthen our evidence 
about the type of specialist accommodation required in Caerphilly and set out 
funding and delivery models for move on accommodation and to develop better 
supported housing schemes including: 
 

 clusters of units in individual locations for individuals with learning disabilities and 
mental health challenges. 

 high quality, professionally managed co-living schemes with individual kitchens 
and bathrooms but some communal space to manage private and shared living. 

 purpose-based flats with support and training for individuals using substances 
and alcohol.  

 individual 1 bed move on accommodation pepper potted throughout the County 
Borough. 

 opportunities for home ownership for people with long term disabilities. 

Page 63



 

 

Supporting People Who Are Homeless & Rough Sleeping 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has been a stark reminder of the urgency of reversing rising 
rates of homelessness and rough sleeping. Preventing homelessness and tackling 
rough sleeping brings the resources of the Council, social landlords and support 
partners together to deliver a ‘Housing First’ approach securing permanent self-
contained accommodation with flexible, intensive community support offered around 
the needs of the person. 
 
During the Covid Pandemic, we supported almost 1,000 people into emergency 
temporary accommodation and more continue to be supported each day.  Many 
people who have previously been unable to engage with services are now benefiting 
from support and advice including mental health support and substance use 
treatment, laying the foundations for a permanent exit from homelessness. We must 
now turn to planning for the future and helping people into more permanent housing. 
 
Our focus will be to move away from a reliance on unsuitable temporary 
accommodation and towards a rapid rehousing approach, supported by Welsh 
Government. Rapid Rehousing moves people into settled, secure and suitable 
homes as quickly as possible as the default solution when homelessness cannot be 
prevented. 
 
It calls for prevention to be targeted at certain groups proven to be at greater risk, 
such as vulnerable young people and people leaving care or prison. It also wants the 
legal duty to prevent homelessness to be extended across the wider public sector, 
not just placed at the door of housing services. The initial focus will be on the 
development of a move on protocol for re-housing those in emergency/temporary 
accommodation into more suitable permanent accommodation. We will develop a 
Rapid Rehousing Transition Plan setting out how our service will move toward a 
Rapid Rehousing approach. We will: 
 

 Carefully review our evidence to identify anticipated demand for services both 
now and over the next five years 

 Identify the scale of need for permanent housing and the complexity of that need 
and include plans in our new build development programmes where possible. 

 Consider the likely location and type of accommodation and support required 

 Map the quantity, quality and location of temporary housing across the county 
Borough 

 

Identify the Resources We Will Require 
 
Our priorities are to: 
 

 acknowledge and plan for the impact of Covid-19 on homelessness and the 
increased demand on services now and in the future as the economy provides an 
unstable platform for economic growth and we will work with social landlords and 
other stakeholders to create solutions. 

Page 64



 

 prevent people from becoming homeless by ensuring that information on housing 
options is easily accessible, supporting residents facing eviction so that they can 
remain in their existing homes and using data analysis to target our interventions 
at resident groups at highest risk of homelessness. 

 support those experiencing the crisis of homelessness, to regain their 
independence and by working in partnership with social landlords, voluntary and 
community partners to make the best use of resources. 

 take trauma and psychologically informed approaches to improve services for 
vulnerable people. 

 plan for accessible accommodation requirements for people who are homeless or 
at risk of becoming homeless. 

 tackle the root causes of homelessness by providing rough sleepers with a “route 
off the street”, working with landlords to find more homes and using our existing 
social housing assets more effectively. 

  

Improving Service Delivery 
 
We are planning to review how we make initial assessments on our responsibilities 
for homeless households so that we can respond more effectively.  We are planning 
to review how we make assessments and decisions at an earlier stage about what 
the Council’s duty is which will enable us to assess people’s requirements more 
quickly and allow the Council to focus on more preventative support by signposting 
people to advice and assistance where that is required and focusing our resources 
on those people who need to be offered accommodation. 
 

Tackling Rough Sleeping & Sofa Surfing 
 
Rough sleeping is an issue that we are looking to tackle. While 6 rough sleepers 
were identified on the last count, it is likely that the true numbers are closer to 20-30, 
hidden due to our rural nature. There are a number of clients with very extensive 
needs, often rough sleeping because the current mechanisms and services have 
fallen short of their needs. By increasing our evidence on what contributes to the root 
cause of rough sleeping we will develop and delivering viable solutions that provide 
support and accommodation. 
 
Whilst rough sleeping is a priority area for the Council, so too is sofa surfing. Better 
intelligence is needed to understand the extent of sofa surfing across the County 
Borough. We will explore the scale and potential options to support and reduce sofa 
surfing, as well the demand for Housing Related Support Provision and identify gaps 
in supply. There may be a potential action around undertaking a more detailed needs 
analysis in the future to understand the demand and need for housing related 
support. 
 

Increasing Provision of Accommodation 

 
We will explore and increase the opportunities that the Private Rented Sector can 
offer to provide solutions for people who in housing need. We are planning to consult 
with landlords to understand what their challenges and barriers are in providing 
accommodation to households who are homeless or at risk and we will be 

Page 65



 

developing options that incentivise landlords to work with the Council so that we are 
able to effectively discharge our duty into the PRS sector. This may include the local 
authority acting as guarantor for tenancies, developing a more attractive landlord 
offer such as rent payments in advance and support if homes are improved and then 
offered for rent through Caerphilly Homes. 
 
A significant role for the Council is to expand the scale of Caerphilly Keys, a project 
led by the Housing Solutions team which helps private landlords find long term 
tenants for their properties, whilst also preventing homelessness. The service is 
provided free of charge to landlords. 
Through our social landlords and Caerphilly homes, the Council will secure 
additional units in the private rented sector, creating a network of dispersed housing 
allowing for greater independence to provide permanent housing solutions for 
people. 
 

The Need for Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Sites 
 
The last Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Accommodation Assessment, identified no 
requirement for a permanent site – the known population in the County Borough is 
low and need has previously been on a temporary basis where groups are passing 
through Caerphilly. The Council will keep this decision under close review and will 
supplement the current evidence base by proactively attempting to carry out 
accommodation needs surveys on all unauthorised encampments that take place in 
the County Borough.  The Council is currently in the process of carrying out a new 
Assessment, which will be completed in early 2022. 
 
The replacement LDP will continue to include a criteria-based policy to address any 
applications for Gypsy, Roma and Traveller sites. 

Page 66


	Agenda
	3 Joint Scrutiny Committee held on 22nd February 2021.
	4 Homeless Project Plan.
	Appendix 1

	5 Local Housing Strategy 2021-26.
	Appendix 1


